
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy    www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy  

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Local Pension Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Friday, 19 January 2018 at 9.30 am 

Location: Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield. 

Contact: Mr. M. Hand (Tel. 0116 305 6038) 

Email: matthew.hand@leics.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
Item  Report By  Marked 

 
1.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 10 November 
2017.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 8) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Market Outlook.  
 

Independent 
Investment Advisor 
 

(Pages 9 - 14) 

7.  
  

Strategic Investment Benchmark and Portfolio 
Structure of the Fund.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 15 - 60) 

8.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.facebook.com/LeicsDemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy


 

 

TO: 
   

Leicestershire County Council 
 

 

Mr. P. C. Osborne CC (Chairman) 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 
Dr. S. Hill CC 
 
Leicester City Council 
 

Mr. Max Hunt CC 
Mrs. R. Page CC 
 

Cllr Deepak Bajaj and Cllr Dr Lynn Moore 
 

 

District Council Representatives 
 
Cllr Chris Frost and Cllr. Malise Graham MBE 
 
University Representative   
 
Ms. M. Holden 

 

  
 

 

 

Staff Representatives  
  
Mr. R. Bone 
Mr. N. Booth 
 

Ms. J. Dean 
 

 
 

 



 

  

 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Local Pension Committee held at County Hall, 
Glenfield on Friday, 10 November 2017.  
   

PRESENT: 
Leicestershire County Council 
 

 

Mr. P. C. Osborne CC (Chairman) 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 
Dr. S. Hill CC 
 
 

Mr. Max Hunt CC 
Mrs. R. Page CC 
 

Leicester City Council 
 

 

Cllr Dr Lynn Moore  
  
Staff Representatives  
  
Mr. R. Bone 
Mr. N. Booth 
 

Ms. Jackie Dean 
 

Independent Advisers and Managers  
 
Mr. S. Jamieson Independent Investment Advisor 
 

57. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 1 September 2017 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed. 
 

58. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

59. Questions asked by members.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

60. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

61. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. No declarations were made. 
 
 

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 

62. Summary Valuation of Pension Fund Investments and Performance of Individual 
Managers.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose 
of which was to present a summary valuation of the Fund’s investments at 30 September 
2017. A copy of the report is filed with these minutes, marked ‘6’. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

63. Funding Update as at 30 September 2017.  
 
The Committee considered a report by Hymans Robertson which presented the funding 
projection at 30 September 2017.  A copy of the report, marked ‘7’, is filed with these 
minutes.  
 
In response to questions from members, the Director of Corporate resources explained 
that overall the Fund’s asset’s had continued to perform above the benchmark and whilst 
at present the Fund’s liabilities remained high, it was hoped that they would decrease 
over time. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

64. Action Agreed by the Investment Subcommittee.  
 
The Committee received a report by the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose of 
which was to inform members of the decisions taken by the Investment Subcommittee at 
its meeting on 11 October 2017. A copy of the report marked ‘8’ is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

65. Risk Management and Internal Controls.  
 
The Director of Corporate Resources presented a report, the purpose of which was to 
detail any concerns relating to the risk management and internal controls of the Fund. A 
copy of the report is filed with these minutes, marked ‘9’. 
 
The Board noted the inclusion within the register of the risks associated with pooling of 
assets within LGPS Central and the consequences should it fail to deliver a long term net 
investment return. The Director stated that the governance structure of LGPS Central 
would allow for issues of concern to be raised by member funds and officers would be 
monitoring the pool’s performance closely.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
 

4



 
 

 

 

66. Pension Fund Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose 
of which was to present the Annual Report and Accounts of the Pension Fund 2016/17 
for approval. A copy of the report is filed with these minutes, marked ‘10’. 
 
The Director reported that the Fund’s membership had continued to grow over the past 
year and was expected to rise further as auto- enrolment continued to be introduced by 
the Fund’s employers. It was noted that the annual report contained a complete list of the 
Fund’s employing bodies as at 31st March 2017, including the names of academy trusts 
(rather than individual schools) which were members of the Fund.   

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Pension Fund Annual Report and Accounts for 2016/17 be approved. 
 

67. Impact of investment pooling onto the role of the Local Pension Committee - 
Presentation.  
 
The Committee considered a presentation by the Director of Corporate Resources which 
provided an update to members concerning the progress made towards the formation of 
the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Central Investment Pool. A copy of the 
report presentation marked ‘11’ is filed with these minutes.  
 
The Director reported that the LGPS Central Pool, of which the Leicestershire Fund 
would be one of 9 member schemes, was on schedule to meet the requirement to be 
operational by April 2018.  
 
Arising from discussion the following was noted; 
 

 Following the establishment of LGPS Central, the Local Pension Committee would 
continue to set the Leicestershire Fund’s strategic asset allocation thereby 
deciding which types of investments the Fund would invest in; 
 

 The restructuring of assets belonging to the 9 Funds which made up LGPS central 
would be managed over several years. This would result in some of the Fund’s 
investment managers continuing to work for the Fund, via LGPS Central, until new 
investment manager selection processes were conducted by the pool; 
 

 Under the new arrangements, closed end fund type investments, of which the 
Leicestershire Fund owned several, would be left to mature and end naturally 
before the assets were transferred to the pool.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the presentation be noted. 
 

68. Market Update.  
 
The Committee considered an update concerning the current financial market conditions. 
A copy of the update documents produced by the Independent Investment Advisor and 
Kames Capital are filed with these minutes marked ‘12’.  
 

5



 
 

 

 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update be noted. 
 

69. Exclusion of the Press and Public.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public be excluded 
from the meeting for the remaining items of business on the grounds that they involved 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12(A) of the Act. 
 

70. Kames Capital Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Kames Capital, a copy of which marked 
'15' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 
3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

71. Aspect Capital Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Aspect Capital, a copy of which marked 
'16' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 
3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

72. Kleinwort Benson Investors Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Kleinwort Benson, a copy of which 
marked '17' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of 
paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

73. Ruffer Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Ruffer, a copy of which marked '18' is 
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

6



 
 

 

 

74. Pictet Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Pictet, a copy of which marked '19' is 
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

75. Millennium Global Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Millennium, a copy of which marked '20' 
is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 
and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

76. Delaware Investments Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Delaware Investments, a copy of which 
marked '21' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of 
paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

77. JP Morgan Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by JP Morgan, a copy of which marked '22' 
is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 
and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

78. Legal and General Investment Manager Quarterly Report  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Legal and General Investment Manager, 
a copy of which marked '23' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication 
by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government 
Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 

7



 
 

 

 

79. Ashmore Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Ashmore, a copy of which marked '24' is 
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

80. Stafford Timberland Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Stafford Timberland, a copy of which 
marked '25' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of 
paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

81. Kempen Capital Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Kempen Capital, a copy of which 
marked '26' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of 
paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

82. IFM Investors Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Kames Capital, a copy of which marked 
'27' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 
3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

83. Aviva Investors Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered an exempt report by Aviva Investors, a copy of which marked 
'28' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 
3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED; 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

09.30 – 11.20am CHAIRMAN 
10 November 2017 

 

8



    
 

1 
 

Market Backdrop 

This note is intended to support discussion at the annual strategy meeting of the Local Pension Committee 

of the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund. 

Market Summary 

2017 proved to be another year of strong stock markets with global equities, in local currency, delivering a 

total return of 19.7%. The platform for this achievement was formed of stronger and more synchronised 

economic activity than expected across the globe, low inflation and the absence of serious political 

challenges, especially in the Eurozone. Selected central banks moved to tighten monetary policy but not to 

threaten the expansion, others gave notice that they intend to move away from the extra-ordinary monetary 

accommodation of the past decade. The US$ gave back gains of previous years; this proved helpful as a 

strong dollar invariably starves much of the world of investment capital. Altogether, this enabled corporate 

profits to rise, supporting equity markets despite, as some perceive, lofty valuations.  

Investors have entered 2018 in positive mood looking for this benign backdrop to continue and expecting a 

positive boost from the US tax reform completed at the end of 2017. 

Market Movements 

The figures below describe the % performance of various markets from the end of 2016 to the end of 2017 

and the range of performance over that period.  

Equity markets did very well and were almost never behind the close of 2016. The steady progress was 

remarkable and illustrated by the US market which 

didn’t have a month over which returns were negative 

– the first time that this has happened in at least 30 

years. Measures of equity market volatility marked 

multi-decade lows. Emerging markets ultimately led 

the way helped by low price volatility, a steadily rising 

oil price and good global growth although China lagged 

as domestic credit tightening impacted sentiment. That 

France avoided appointing a right-wing President 

allowed investors to begin the rehabilitation of 

continental Europe as investible market. 

Repeated reports showing strong economic activity and rising appetite for risk boosted industrial 

commodities. Production constraints agreed by OPEC enabled oil, in the second part of 2017, to rise slowly 

and steadily despite still high stockpiles. Gold ultimately responded to a steadily weakening US$. 

9 Agenda Item 6



    
 

2 
 

Bond markets had been expected to see sharply higher yields over the course of 2017 on higher inflation and 

in response to the more extreme policy promises made by Donald Trump in his election campaign. In the 

event neither threat emerged and still low bond yields played their part in supporting risk markets. The low 

level of risk market volatility allowed credit spreads to tighten further – spreads are notably low – and 

emerging market debt enjoyed strong and sustained inflows. The UK index-linked market displayed its 

customary volatility ultimately to little net effect. 

The Pound had a better year than many supposed going into 2017 with cheap valuation enabling it to absorb 

ongoing Brexit concerns and the surprise result of the snap General election1. The trade weighted index 

(TWI) ended the year marginally better an achievement that masked weakness against the Euro (particularly 

after the French election) and gains against most other currencies, the US$ most notably. 

The Outlook:  

The consensus outlook for real economic growth in 2018 is being shaped by the more positive economic 

data over H1, 2017 than had been expected; the scale of economic surprises is at multi-year highs. This feeds 

through to a moderately solid global economic outlook for 2018 and 2019 with the US economy, benefitting 

from tax reform, expected to perform best over 2018 (trend US growth is estimated, by the US Federal 

Reserve, to be 1.8%). Growth, across the globe, is expected to be strongest in the first half – some 

forecasters see growth in the Eurozone over Q1 running at a remarkable 4+% annualised pace. Thereafter 

natural ‘self-exhausting’ cyclical factors and tighter monetary policies are expected to exert more influence. 

Growth in the UK is forecast to remain lack-lustre as Brexit worries and high levels of consumer debt 

combine with negative real wage growth to restrain activity. 

Table 1: Consensus forecasts – Real GDP growth (%) (and economic surprise index – G10) 

 2017 2018 2019 

US 2.3 2.6 2.2 

Eurozone 2.3 2.1 1.8 

UK 1.5 1.4 1.4 

Japan 1.7 1.3 1.0 

China 6.8 6.5 6.2 

                                                           
1 Currencies are commented on further in another note 

10



    
 

3 
 

A strong outlook has not fed through to higher levels of forecast inflation despite the steady rise in energy 

costs over the past two quarters. For the most part, forecast inflation rates are around or below central bank 

target rates. This suggests that the strong deflation under-currents of the past decade are judged still 

present and implies that monetary policies, while they may undergo prudential tightening, will retain a ‘soft’ 

bias.  

Table 2: Consensus forecasts – Inflation (CPI, %) (and oil price) 

 2018 2019 

US 1.7 2.0 

Eurozone 1.5 1.6 

UK 2.5 2.1 

Japan 0.8 1.0 

China 2.3 2.2 

Important for all assets – especially bond markets, is 

the continued decline in terminal (or equilibrium) 

policy rates, shaped by the US Federal Reserve 

projections. The US equilibrium real policy rate is 

now just 0.8%. On this basis, low bond yields are 

here to stay.  

The benign outlook for inflation and policy rates is 

vulnerable to a surprise change of view – most likely 

led by the US Fed and/or much stronger economic 

data in Q1 leading to fears of ‘over-heating’.  

Table 3 guides that bond forecasters currently see yields rising steadily over the next two years. Relative to 

the equilibrium rate, US bond yields will be tightening monetary conditions in 2019. Nowhere will bond 

yields, in absolute terms, appear compelling. 

Table 3: Consensus forecasts – ten-year bond yields at year end (%) 

 Latest 2018 2019 

US 2.5 2.9 3.2 

Germany 0.4 0.9 1.4 

UK 1.2 1.7 1.8 

Japan 0.1 0.1 0.1 

 

  

11



    
 

4 
 

Equities 

The chart below details how forecast earnings per share (EPS) for the UK, US, European and Japan equity 

markets have evolved over the past twenty years; they chime with the economic cycle. The boost to the 

earnings of larger UK companies from the currency devaluation of 2016 is clear to see. Equally, the upturn in 

activity in Europe has fed through strongly to company earnings there. 

Charts E1: Experienced earnings per share growth 

   

The latest EPS forecasts for the next financial year suggests the Japanese corporate earnings will strengthen 

sharply (helped by a lower Yen and the return of inflation) while elsewhere stabilisation is anticipated – this 

is likely too pessimistic given that the achievements in reforming US tax policy have yet to hit analysts’ 

numbers. The UK outlook points to the currency boost fading quickly.  

Chart E2: Forecast earnings per share (next financial year, rebased to 100 in 2015) 

 

Looking beyond the next financial year, equity analysts generally remain optimistic (Table 4); although it 

should be remembered that analysts are rarely pessimistic.  

Table 4: Consensus EPS growth forecasts – second and third financial years with change from previous report 

(source: DataStream) 

 UK US Japan Europe 

FY2 8% (1%) 12% (+1%) 5% (-1%) 9% (+1%) 

FY3 8% (0%) 10% (0%) 8% (0%) 9% (0%) 

 

12



    
 

5 
 

Equity Valuation 

A preferred means of assessing how attractively priced are equities draws upon the implied level of dividend 

growth required to generate the same returns relative to the alternative of investing in bonds over the long 

term. In both the UK and US markets (Charts E3 and E4), the break-even level of long-term dividend growth 

looks to be modest in absolute terms and against what has been delivered in the past; low bond yields 

improve the comparison. If allowance is made for a risk premium – important given the uncertainties 

surrounding Brexit, then UK dividends may never grow but equities would still broadly offer better value 

than fixed income. This position could persist for some time. US equities have seen the breakeven dividend 

growth lift in recent months in response to higher bond yields of late and equity indices having repeatedly 

marked new all-time highs. 

Overall, while the interest rate outlook may have become more uncertain, equity markets still offer better 

value than bonds though valuation support, relative to bonds, is deteriorating in the US. 

Charts E3 and E4: UK (FT All Share, left chart) and US (S&P Composite, right chart) implied dividend growth 

The implied outlook for the more domestically focused FTSE 250 is determined in the same manner as the 

broader market. Here the path of actual dividend growth has been more consistent with the evolution of the 

breakeven rate (Chart E5). The chart also suggests that there may be some poor news on actual dividends to 

absorb in the near term.  

Chart E5: UK (FTSE 250 Index), imp. div. growth                    Chart E6: Regional PE ratios            

Chart E6 plots the main regional price-earnings (PE) ratios. These have been rising steadily in the US and EM 

(but from a much lower base). Elsewhere market gains have been matched by improvements in earnings to 

keep PEs stable. In all areas, PEs are considerably higher than they were several years ago. 

  

13



    
 

6 
 

The charts below plot the performance of several acknowledged styles relative to the broad global equity 

market. In recent quarters outperformance has come from smaller companies – often most leveraged into 

the economic cycle, growth stocks and stocks with positive momentum. Value stocks have lagged despite 

the better economic backdrop – recovery most likely needs higher bond yields. Minimum risk (vol) and 

higher yielding stocks are generally seen as defensive styles; unsurprisingly these continue to lag. 

 

 

 

Summary 

No adverse surprises, solid synchronised growth, low inflation and accommodative central banks arguably 

combine to deliver a perfect backdrop for risk assets; it has certainly seemed this way since the last annual 

review of Fund strategy. 2017 was expected to suffer from numerous shocks, rising inflation and a less 

synchronised global economy. As these fears faded there was considerable scope for risk assets to perform 

well – and they did. Looking into 2018, while the supportive conditions look like continuing this must, to 

some extent, be discounted. Equity markets coming into 2017 needed good growth in corporate earnings to 

make progress, the same is true this year. With consumption strong in continental Europe, widespread 

evidence of a lift in capital investment and the prospect of some follow through from US tax reform, the 

balance of risk favours higher earnings per share but the delivery risks are naturally higher. 

The notion of fair valuation in equities is notoriously hard to harden. In practice, valuation metrics model the 

behaviour of the dominant investor type. In decades past, longer term institutional investors controlled 

markets but their influence has waned considerably since the GFC. Retail investors, for who cash is a more 

natural asset (than it is for an institution), have become much more prominent. With this likely to be 

sustained (gain in importance) and with central banks keeping cash yields very low, the yields etc available 

on equities will likely remain attractive. [Only in the US and likely only later into 2018 is there any scope for 

cash to become competitive.]  

Equities may appear expensive on various merits but the over-valuation is nothing compared to that on cash. 

While recession is avoided, equity markets can confound the institutional ‘wisdom’ and mark (much) higher 

levels. The flip-side is that retail investors can be quick to bail from positions if they get nervous. The low 

volatility of the past year has been helpful but is unlikely to endure. Beyond the unforecastable influence of 

populist driven political events, the oil market should be watch for what higher prices might do to lift 

inflation and put many of the supportive influences into reverse. 

Scott M Jamieson, January 2018 

14



 

 
 

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 19 JANUARY 2018 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

STRATEGIC INVESTMENT BENCHMARK AND PORTFOLIO STRUCTURE OF THE 
FUND 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to recommend changes to the Fund’s strategic 
investment benchmark, as outlined in Appendix A and Appendix B of the report. 

 
 Background 
 

2. The Pension Fund has long-term liabilities. The agreement of a strategic investment 
benchmark can, therefore, be based on the long-term expectation of returns within 
certain asset classes. Market fluctuations mean that the Fund’s actual asset 
allocation will never exactly match the agreed strategic asset allocation and 
investment within asset classes in which funding is ‘drawn down’ over a period of 
time further confuses the position. The strategic benchmark should, therefore, be 
considered an ‘anchor’ around which the actual asset allocation is fixed. 
 

3. Any decision on the appropriate investment benchmark split is inherently difficult, 
and will inevitably come down to a ‘trade-off’ between expected risk and return. 
Whilst historic measures for risk and return have some use and can be instructive 
about how different asset classes are correlated to each other, they clearly give no 
guarantee that these historic links will persist. As a result it is somewhat fanciful to 
suggest that it is possible to design an ‘optimal’ asset mix; this should not, however, 
detract from the desirability to agree a strategic asset allocation benchmark that 
makes intuitive sense in terms of the risks being taken to achieve a required return. 

 
 Required Investment Return 
 

4. Before a strategic investment benchmark can be designed, it is important to be 
clear about the required future investment return. Without this clarity it would be 
possible to have a strategy that targets a return that is very high, but takes overly 
large risks and as a result has too high a possibility of failing to achieve its target – 
thereby putting unnecessary upward pressure onto employers’ contribution rates. 
Likewise a target that is too low may be easily achieved, but has very little 
probability of producing the returns needed to lessen future employers’ contribution 
increases. 

 
5. The Leicestershire Fund has, for many years, set a required investment return that 

is sufficient to assist in controlling future employers’ contribution rate increases, but 
not so risky that the actual outcome might have the opposite effect. This required 
return has generally been for an annual return of about 4% above Consumer Price 
Inflation (CPI), and the increase in the funding level (i.e. ratio of assets to liabilities) 
that has occurred since the 2016 actuarial valuation has had the impact of 

15 Agenda Item 7



 

marginally reducing the future required return. The very strong performance of risk 
assets since the actuarial valuation has, however, reduced expected future 
investment returns by broadly the same level as the reduction in the required return. 
Overall, this means that there is neither a requirement to seek to significantly 
enhance future investment returns, nor is there any scope to meaningfully reduce 
the level of investment risk that is required. Given this fact it is perhaps no surprise 
that the Annual Strategy Review proposes a further evolution of the strategic 
benchmark, rather than wholesale changes. 

  
 Recommended Changes 
 
6. Any assessment of whether a strategic investment benchmark is capable of 

achieving the target return requires assumptions to be made about expected future 
investment returns on an individual asset class basis. These asset class 
assumptions take into account current market levels so will not remain stable over 
time, but the strategic asset allocation benchmark agreed by the Committee in 
January 2017 is still considered broadly capable of achieving the required return. 

 
7. Unlike many Pension Funds, Leicestershire formally considers its strategic asset 

allocation on an annual basis so changes are always likely to be ‘evolution, not 
revolution’. There is no presumption that annual changes will be required, however 
if changes can be made that would improve the risk/reward trade-off then these 
should be seriously considered. Part of the consideration that goes into proposing 
changes is an assessment of valuations within markets at a point-in-time; put 
simplistically it is far more likely that a reduction in equities will be proposed if they 
are felt to be highly valued, than if they are considered to be cheap. 

 
8. The attached appendices to the report contain more detailed explanations about the 

reasons behind the recommended changes, but the remainder of this report will 
focus on the recommendations and the rationale behind them. Whilst appendices A 
and B specifically refer to recommended actions, appendices C and D should be 
considered background information about general investment themes that are likely 
to add additional ‘context’ to today’s discussions.  

 
9. The Fund’s dominant asset class remains equities, and there is no proposal that 

this changes. It is, however proposed that the strategic benchmark weighting of 
equities be reduced by 2% in order to invest an extra 1% into each of infrastructure 
and timberland. These asset classes are considered to offer broadly similar long-
term returns to equities, but with the probability of a more consistent return. The 
additional investment in timberland will be via the Stafford International Timberland 
VIII (into which a $30m commitment has already been made). It is recommended 
that the Director of Finance, following discussions with the Fund’s Investment 
Advisors be given discretion about the most appropriate split of the additional 
monies into infrastructure, albeit that the monies will only be invested via the Fund’s 
existing infrastructure managers (IFM, JPMorgan and KKR), in order that due 
account can be taken of how efficiently the new monies can access the market. The 
suggested revised strategic benchmark for the Fund can be found at page 20 of 
Appendix A. 

 
10. In October 2017, the Investment Subcommittee agreed the latest investment into a 

number of ‘opportunity pool’ investments which, when fully drawn, will bring the 
weighting of this asset class to around 5%, it is recommended that the target range 

16



 

is increased from 4%- 6% to 4% - 8%. This will provide scope to make further 
investments in the event that suitable ones are found, and it is proposed than any 
additional monies required to fund new opportunity pool investments will be drawn 
from either equities or targeted return. The exact source of the monies for further 
opportunity pool investments will be considered on a case-by-case basis at the 
point of approval of any investment, and will depend on valuation levels at the 
appropriate time. 

 
11. Given the strengthening of sterling over the last year and taking into account the 

expected underperformance of the UK economy on a global basis in the years 
ahead, it is recommended that the default hedging position for currency exposure 
caused by the Fund’s exposure to overseas equities is reduced to 50% from the 
current 70%. It should be noted that the default hedge acts only as a neutral point 
around which the hedge implementation manager (Kames Capital) will base their 
actual positions; if they have strong views on the valuation of any currency relative 
to sterling, they are free to position their hedges accordingly. 

 
12. There is no proposal to amend the strategic weighting of property from its current 

level of 10%, but it is recommended that a further £25m investment is made into the 
Kames Active Value Property Unit Trust II (KAVPUT II) to close some of the current 
underweight position. The Fund already has a £25m investment in KAVPUT II and 
the managers’ pipeline of deals suggests that the additional investment can be 
made in a speedy manner and on attractive terms. 

 
13. It is recommended that the target portfolio sizes of Ruffer and Pictet - who both form 

part of the targeted return weighting - are amended slightly; Ruffer from 6.5% to 
6.0% and Pictet from 1.5% to 2.0%. This will reflect a more optimal balance of the 
various portfolio styles within targeted return, but is unlikely to lead to any 
immediate additions or withdrawals of cash from within the portfolios. The portfolios 
will be adjusted towards their revised weightings as-and-when cash flows are 
required for other purposes. 

 
14. It is recommended that the Investment Subcommittee be asked to consider the 

issues of the regional equity split, the indices against which the Fund’s passive 
equity assets are managed and the potential impact of climate change onto future 
benchmark returns. The latter two of these issues are likely to be considered by a 
number of other Funds that are part of LGPS Central, and some element of joint 
working is likely to be sensible. It is anticipated that these issues will be considered 
during 2018, with any recommendations brought back to the Local Pension 
Committee in due course. 

 
 Summary    
 
 15. The strategic asset allocation benchmark agreed as part of the January 2017 Local 

Pension Committee meeting is still considered to be generally ‘fit for purpose’. The 
changes that are being recommended are not particularly significant but should 
improve the overall structure of the benchmark. 

17



 

 Recommendations 
 
16.  It is recommended: 
 

a) That the revised strategic benchmark for the Fund as shown on page 20 of 
Appendix A of the report be approved 
 

b) That subject to recommendation a), the Director of Finance ,following 
consultation with the Fund’s investment consultants, be authorised to split 
the  increase in the Fund’s strategic asset allocation to infrastructure 
between the Fund’s existing infrastructure managers; 
 

c) That the revised portfolio split within the Fund’s targeted return portfolios as 
set out below, be approved:: 

 

Ruffer  6.0% of total Fund assets 
Aspect Capital  3.5% of total Fund assets 
Pictet  2.0% of total fund assets 

 

d) That a change in the neutral hedging position in respect of the Fund’s 
currency exposure created by its overseas equity benchmark position to 50% 
be approved; 
 

e) That an additional £25m investment into the Kames Active Value Property 
Unit Trust II in order to close some of the Fund’s current underweight 
position in property, be approved; 

 
 

f) That the  Investment Subcommittee be asked to consider over the course of 
2018 the issues of the regional equity split, the appropriate benchmarks 
against which the Fund’s passive equities should be managed and the 
potential impact of climate change onto benchmark returns.  

   
   
  Background Papers 
   
  None. 
 
  Appendices 
 
  Appendix A – Annual review of asset strategy and structure 
     addressee 
 
  Appendix B - Reviewing the neutral currency hedge ratio 
 
  Appendix C - Searching for mitigants 
 
  Appendix D - Adjusting the regional equity mix 
 
 
  Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
  None specific. 

18



 

 
  Officers to Contact 
 
   
  Chris Tambini - Director of Finance – Corporate Resources telephone 0116 305 

6199. Email chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
  Colin Pratt – Investments Manager – Corporate Resources telephone 0116 305 

7656. Email colin.pratt@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

19

mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:colin.pratt@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 001 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

Annual review of asset strategy and structure  

Addressee 

This paper is addressed to the Local Pension Committee (LPC) of Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund 

(“the Fund”). The purpose of this paper is to provide the 2018 annual assessment of the Fund’s investment 

strategy.  

The note has not been prepared for use for any other purpose.  It should not be released or otherwise disclosed 

to any third party except as required by law or regulatory obligation or without our prior written consent.  This 

report complies with Technical Actuarial Standard 100: Principles for Technical Actuarial Work. 

Executive Summary 

Required return 

Since March 2016 up to end September 2017 the funding level has improved by over 4%. However, the size of 

the deficit is little changed due to the growth in both the assets and value placed upon the liabilities. 

Over this 18 month period gilt yields have fallen by c0.3% p.a. and real yields (i.e. after adjusting for the markets’ 

expectation of future inflation) have fallen over 0.5% p.a. The effect of lower nominal and real discount rates has 

been to increase the value of the liabilities and hence reduce the impact of the very positive asset returns on the 

Fund since March 2016 (+22.9%). 

Most markets have continued to deliver strong returns in the “risk-on” environment. Inflation linked bond real 

yields are also negative so investors will receive negative real returns from holding UK index-linked gilts. Hence, 

over the medium term we consider the current strategy to have an expected return of 3.6% over CPI, i.e. lower 

than the long-term target of 3.9% over CPI highlighted in previous reports. 

However, since March 2016 implied long-term CPI has risen while gilt yields have fallen. As a result, the discount 

rate is now equivalent to earning just 1.3% over implied CPI, i.e. a lower return target than the implied long-term 

real return of CPI + 1.9% at the valuation date. Hence, the reduction in expected real return on assets is offset by 

the lower required real return implied by the discount rate.  

Market Conditions 

We see valuations on nearly all assets as expensive, but believe that improving global fundamentals plus 

technical support should mean positive, albeit low, returns on most assets over the medium-term. The main risks 

affecting core equity and credit markets would be a material policy mistake or a general setback to global growth. 

The uncertainties around Brexit and the UK’s trade agreements with other regions will continue to dominate the 

domestic agenda. Irrespective of the long-term outcome, this is likely to mean ongoing uncertainty around levels 

of corporate investment and economic growth, at least in the short-term, and UK interest rate rises are likely to 

lag those of the US, and indeed Europe.   

In this environment, we continue to favour predictable returns from income biased assets. However, with 

downward pressure on yields, we also note that most public credit markets have little upside from here. As a 

result we favour many less liquid income assets such as private lending, property and infrastructure. If markets do 

sell off, then it will provide a better entry point into some of the more liquid credit strategies that have become 

relatively expensive.  

Recommendations 

We do not see the need for any fundamental changes to the Fund’s strategy at this time. As in previous reports, 

our recommendations continue to be an evolution of the existing strategy.  

21

mhand
Typewritten Text
Appendix A



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 002 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

At the margin, our recommendations continue the direction of travel towards an investment strategy with greater 

focus on predictable and sustainable income based returns, ideally with some inherent inflation linkage, while 

reducing the reliance on equity returns, which have been strong and are less predictable.  

For the avoidance of doubt, our focus on income based returns is not a requirement for the income, but simply 

because we see these assets as capable of achieving more predictable (and more stable) total returns (i.e. 

capital and income combined); the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund is currently in a position whereby 

income and expenditure from non-investment activities are broadly neutral, and it is likely to be a number of years 

before any meaningful amount of investment income is be required to pay benefits.. 

Our proposals are as follows: 

Equities 

 Given the dependency of earnings and dividend growth on positive economic outcomes, coupled 

with comparatively stretched prices, we propose a small reduction in the target equity range to fund 

the modest proposed increase in real assets.  

 We note the ability to use equity options to provide downside protection at a time when prices look 

stretched but other assets also look expensive. This is typically of most relevant for investors 

focused on short-term volatility control rather than investors with a longer-term time horizon.    

 With ongoing lack of clarity around Brexit and associated trade agreements for the foreseeable 

future, coupled with a 5% recovery in sterling over 2017 relative to other currencies (as measured 

against a global market cap index), we support the proposal to reduce the current currency hedging 

ratio on overseas equity assets from 70% (i.e. the target implemented last year) back to the 50% 

weight that had been used previously.   

 The equity portfolio continues to have an inherent value bias resulting from the two income focused 

managers and the passive RAFI holding. During 2018 the Central Pool will launch its Global Equity 

Fund, which it is anticipated will result in a lower value bias. However, the passively managed 

regional equity allocation, including RAFI exposure, remains a decision taken by the Fund rather 

than the Central Pool and we believe it would be worthwhile the ISC consider this during the year.  

 We also recommend that during 2018 the ISC review the benchmarks used for the passive equity 

allocation including whether the use of the RAFI indices is still optimal. 

Real Assets  

 During the year the Fund restored the allocation to index-linked gilts back to 7.5%, removing the 

2.5% tactical underweight applied during 2016. 

 We continue to like real assets that provide a predictable and sustainable return. This is particularly 

true in an environment when other listed assets have been bid up in value and their future returns 

are less predictable.   

 Infrastructure: we propose an additional 1% benchmark allocation to infrastructure, taking the 

strategic allocation to 6%. We propose the LPC delegate responsibility to the Fund’s Officers for 

allocating the additional 1% between the Fund’s existing infrastructure managers, taking into 

consideration access to the managers’ fund raising and scope to get the money invested.  

 Timberland: we propose an additional 1% benchmark allocation to timberland, taking the strategic 

allocation to 3%. Stafford are currently raising commitments for their next fund, and we recommend 

allocating the additional exposure to this fund.   

22



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 003 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

 Property we propose allocating an additional £25m to Kames’ KAVPUT II fund, bringing the Fund’s 

allocation to property up to 9%. 

Opportunities Pool   

 Having recently made allocations to the Opportunities Pool that take the potential investment over 

5% of Fund assets, we propose increasing the upper range from 6% to 8% to allow further 

investments to be made by the Investment Sub Committee if suitable opportunities can be identified.    

We recommend that the additional strategic infrastructure and timberland allocations are funded from equities, 

where returns are expected to be less predictable.  

If additional investments are made to the Opportunities Pool, funding is expected to be from equities or targeted 

return assets, although the actual source of disinvestment to fund opportunities will reflect market conditions at 

the time.   

Prepared by:- 

Andy Green, Partner    

January 2018, for and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reliances and limitations 

The actuarial profession introduced Technical Actuarial Standard (TAS) 100 with effect from 1 July 2017. As part 

of our internal compliance regime, Hymans Robertson has chosen to apply the principles of TAS100 in the 

delivery of investment advice. TAS100 applies to work where actuarial principles and/or techniques are central to 

the work and which involves the exercise of judgement.  

In this report we have provided our estimate of expected asset class returns and used this to estimate the return 

on the Fund as a whole based upon the current and proposed strategic asset allocation. The Fund’s asset 

allocation at October 2017 has been provided by Colin Pratt. The funding level information and discount rates 

have been taken from the Actuary’s funding update as at 30 September 2017.  

The expected returns are based upon 20 year median returns derived from our proprietary economic scenario 

generator (ESS) asset model.  As with all modelling, the results are dependent on the model itself, the calibration 

of the model and the various approximations and estimations used. These processes involve an element of 

subjectivity.  This model uses probability distributions to project a range of possible outcomes for the future 

behaviour of asset returns and economic variables. Some of the parameters of the model are dependent on the 

current state of financial markets and are updated to reflect metrics that can be measured in markets, such as 

yields, while other more subjective parameters do not change with different calibrations of the model.  

The expected returns we have shown are relative to expected CPI. We have assumed a 1% difference between 

expected RPI and CPI, consistent with the assumption made in the actuarial valuation basis. 

Given the context of the use of asset return assumptions in this report, we have not undertaken any additional 

sensitivity analysis to assess how different the results might be with alternative calibrations of the economic 

scenario generator. We would be happy to provide fuller information about the scenario generator on request. 

23



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 004 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

1. Fund asset allocation and required return  

Current strategic asset allocation  

The strategic asset allocation and implementation of the Fund is structured to accommodate the need for long-

term return requirements (primarily equities and alternatives) and a degree of inflation linked returns, given the 

nature of the liabilities.  

Details of the current strategic target allocation are shown in the table below: 

Equities (48-50%) 

 Manager Target 
% 

Listed   

Regional 
inc UK 
and EM 

LGIM 34.0 

Global Kempen 4.0 

Kleinwort 
Benson 

4.0 

Emerging 
Markets Delaware 4.0 

   

Private   

 Adams 
Street 

4.0 

 
1. Actual allocation to Pictet is 2.9% 
due to underweight in Opportunity 
pool.  

 
 

Real Income Assets (24.5%) 

Inflation Linked (14.5%) 

 Manager Target 
% 

Index-linked Implemented 7.5 

Infrastructure IFM 

5.0  KKR 

 JPMorgan 

Timberland Stafford 2.0 

   

Property (10%) 

 Manager Target 
% 

Fund of 
Funds 

Aviva 

10.0 
 

Smaller lots, 
active value 

Kames 

Direct Colliers 

   
 

Alternative (23-25%) 

 Manager Target 
% 

Targeted Ruffer 6.5 

Aspect 3.5 

Pictet 1.51 

Overlay Millennium - 

 

Other opportunities 

EM Debt Ashmore 2.5 

Credit 
Opps 

JPM 

M&G UK 
Financing  

Partners 

7.5 

Other 
opp. pool 

M&G DOF 

Markham 
Rae 

CRC 

Infracapital 

SLC PE 
2ndaries 

4.0-6.0 

 

The actual allocation at 31 October 2017 is shown below. 

 
Current Target Actual 

Equities 48-50% 52.1% 

Inflation linked 14.5% 14.7% 

Property 10% 8.5% 

Targeted 11.5% 12.6% 

Credit 10% 8.4% 

Opportunity pool 4-6% 2.1% 

Cash - 1.6% 

Total 100% 100% 

The Fund is overweight listed equities and underweight credit, property and the Opportunity Pool. The Fund also 

holds 1.6% in cash. 

Outstanding commitments to Partners (£90m) will be drawn in the next few months and bring the credit allocation 

up to target weight. In December CRC drew their full capital (1%). These drawdowns will extinguish the cash 

allocation and start to reduce the Targeted return allocation (from Pictet). Beyond this, any further requirement for 

cash will be funded from equities. 

24



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 005 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

Required rate of return on assets 

The results of the 31 March 2016 actuarial valuation showed an improvement in the funding level since 2013 from 

72% to 76%. 

 

31 March 2016 30 September 2017  

£m £m 

Liabilities 4,153 4,958 

Assets 3,164 3,996 

Shortfall (989) (962) 

Funding level 76.2% 80.6% 

Since March 2016 to end September 2017 the funding level has improved by over 4%. However, the size of the 

deficit is little changed due to the growth in both the assets and value placed upon the liabilities. 

Over the 18 months since 31 March 2016 gilt yields have fallen by c0.3% p.a. and real yields have fallen over 

0.5% p.a. The effect of lower nominal and real discount rates has been to increase the value of the liabilities and 

hence reduce impact of the very positive asset returns on the Fund since March 2016 (+22.9%). 

The discount rate used to calculate the value of the 2016 liabilities in the above table reflects an asset 

outperformance over gilts of 1.8% p.a. or an implied long-term real return over CPI of 1.9% p.a. This means that if 

the Fund’s assets were equal to the value of the liabilities, then the Fund would only need to earn a return of 1.9% 

over CPI (assuming that contributions were sufficient to meet the cost of benefits accruing). However, the Fund 

assets are less that the value of the liabilities, so the Fund will need to earn a return on the assets higher than the 

discount rate, i.e. more than 1.9% over CPI, in order to remove the underfunding.  

The extent of the excess return required will depend upon the time horizon over which the deficit is to be made 

good. Ignoring any difference between the value of contributions and the cost of benefits accruing, we estimated 

the required return to restore the funding level to 100% over 20 years from March 2016 to be approximately 3.3% 

p.a. over CPI. This increases to 4.7% p.a. over CPI if looking to restore the funding over 10 years. In practice 

there will be other external factors such as movements in real yields that influence the discount rate used to value 

the liabilities and to determine future service costs. 

As we have previously identified, setting a strategic asset allocation with an expected return of 3.3% p.a. over CPI 

would by definition have only given a 50% chance of achieving required level of return. By targeting a higher 

expected return, the Fund can increase the proportion of outcomes that are expected to deliver 3.3% over CPI or 

more. The downside is of course that by targeting a much higher expected return, there is likely to be greater 

variation in outcomes and hence more potential downside. Hence, there is a balance to be struck.     

Strategic forecast return 

Most markets have continued to deliver strong returns in the “risk-on” environment. Inflation linked bond real 

yields are also negative. Hence, over the medium term we consider the current strategy to have an expected 

return of 3.6% over CPI, i.e. lower than the long-term target of 3.9% over CPI highlighted in previous reports. 

However, since March 2016 implied long-term CPI has risen while gilt yields have fallen. As a result, the discount 

rate of 1.8% over nominal gilts is now equivalent to earning just 1.3% over implied CPI, i.e. a lower real return 

target. Hence, the reduction in expected real return on assets is offset by the lower required real return implied by 

the discount rate.  

In the table overleaf we set out the expected return and contribution from each component of the current strategy 

to the overall return, based upon current market conditions. We note that these are based upon our subjective 

views of future returns.  

25



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 006 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

 
Benchmark 

weight  
(%) 

Long-term Real 
Return vs CPI  

(% p.a.) 

Contribution to 
Strategic Return 

(% p.a.) 

Equities (48-50%) 

Listed equity 44-46 4.1 1.85 

Private equity 4 6.1 0.25 

Real (24.5%) 

Inflation linked bonds  7.5 -0.7 -0.05 

Infrastructure 5 3.6 0.2 

Timber 2 3.6 0.1 

Property 10 2.4 0.25 

Alternatives/Diversifiers (25.5-27.5%) 

Targeted return 11.5 3.4 0.4 

EMD 2.5 3.0 0.1 

Global Credit 7.5 4.0 0.3 

Opportunity Pool 4-6 4.1 0.2 

Currency overlay (Notional weight) (c10) 1.0 0.1 

TOTAL 100  3.6 
 

As noted in previous reports, it does not require every asset and mandate held by the Fund to deliver returns at 

the Total Fund level, and the investment policy should reflect a combination of return sources that balance the 

need to generate return with the benefit of diversification of returns.  

While the Fund has agreed to become part of a group of nine funds forming LGPS Central, investments will not 

be managed on a joined basis until April 2018. The approach that LGPS Central adopts for pooling assets is likely 

to differ from one asset class to another, and there may be different timelines for moving assets to a pooled basis.  

Recognising that there will now be a transitional phase of bringing assets into the LGPS Central pool, we do not 

propose any substantial changes to the Fund’s investments. 

 
  

26



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 007 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

2. Market Commentary 

Earlier in the year the main cause of uncertainty in the global economy was a divergence between the evidence 

from business surveys (generally upbeat) and that from official data (more mixed).  More recently, any conflict 

seems to have been resolved in favour of the positive view.  Quarterly fluctuations are inevitable, but GDP growth 

over a year in the US, Eurozone, and Japan has been generally edging higher. 

 

Government bonds 

Throughout 2017, it was global influences that drove movements in gilt yields rather than specific domestic 

considerations.  In particular negative reactions to the perception of tightening by global central banks have been 

followed by a downward drift in yields.  In this respect, while not suggesting a rout in government bonds, we think 

that bond investors have not fully priced in a shift in the bias of central bankers towards normalising monetary 

policy or the possibility that current economic momentum will persist. 

 

US

UK

Germany

-0.4

-0.3

-0.2

-0.1

0.0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

1 Jan 1 Feb 1 Mar 1 Apr 1 May 1 Jun 1 Jul 1 Aug 1 Sep 1 Oct 1 Nov 1 Dec

c
h

a
n

g
e

 i
n

 y
ie

ld
 (

%
 p

.a
. 
s
in

c
e

 3
1

 D
e

c
 1

6

10-year government bonds in 2017

UK

US

Eurozone

Japan

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

Q3 15 Q4 15 Q1 16 Q2 16 Q3 16 Q4 16 Q1 17 Q2 17 Q3 17

v
 s

a
m

e
 q

u
a

rt
e

r 
in

 p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a

r 
(%

)

GDP growth

27



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 008 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

So far, the approach of Brexit has not been an obvious influence on the gilt market, but it still has the potential to 

affect short-term sentiment.  The strength of domestic demand for gilts can perhaps be taken for granted; foreign 

demand could be more fickle.  But the main reason for our negative view relates to valuation rather than an 

expectation that rates will actually rise materially.  Long-dated index-linked gilt yields are still very low by historic 

standards.  Even allowing for a discount of roughly 1% p.a. reflecting the linkage to RPI rather than CPI, it means 

index-linked gilts are expensive.  Equivalent US yields of +1% p.a. provide a yardstick for pricing in a less 

distorted environment.       

Other bonds 

Current global economic momentum is a positive for credit, but valuations provide little cushion against any future 

bad news.  Market fundamentals remain robust – defaults are at low levels and the current upturn in global growth 

should help to sustain that.  We would like to see some protection against the possibility that current conditions 

are not sustained over the next business cycle, but yield spreads in credit markets have continued to narrow and 

are typically very low by historic standards.  In the sterling investment-grade market, yields relative to gilts are 

little better on a like-for-like basis than in the halcyon days of the mid-2000s.   

High yield credit markets wobbled a little during the final quarter of 2017.  Yield spreads widened in response to 

some issues specific to some prominent borrowers in the high yield bond market – the collapse of a big merger in 

the US telecommunications sector and a few earnings disappointments, but markets recovered quickly and yield 

spreads finished the year close to multi-year lows.   

 

The strength of demand for credit has resulted in further erosion of the level of covenant protection in traded bond 

and loans markets.  We continue to prefer private markets, where better protection can be negotiated. 

Economic optimism also came to the rescue of local currency emerging market debt (EMD).  While EMD would 

struggle in the short term if economic conditions deteriorate, on a longer perspective yields still look much less 

stretched in absolute terms than most other bond markets.  Those who accept the strategic rationale for emerging 

market currency exposure would still be buying at historically low levels, even though currency has boosted 

returns in the last couple of years. 

 

  

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

4.0

30 Sep 31 Oct 30 Nov 31 Dec

US dollar high yield bonds
option-adjusted yield spread over US Treasury bonds (% p.a.)

28



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 009 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

Equities 

Last year’s 17% local currency rise in the MSCI AC World Index was very similar to the rise in historic earnings.  

Given that global economic expansion probably picked up pace during last year, it seems reasonable to expect 

fundamental support to persist for some time yet.  However, that is probably already discounted by investors.  

Forecasts collated by S&P project operating earnings per share growth in 2018 to be similar to 2017.  While these 

should be treated with considerable scepticism – they typically fall significantly as the year progresses – a rise 

over recent weeks suggests that sentiment is unusually buoyant. 

Momentum could easily continue to push equities higher in the short run – it is not difficult to find examples of 

greater exuberance in the past – but the longer-term outlook continues to concern us.  The tracking of global 

equity prices and earnings over 2017 means that price-earnings ratios remain at high levels (or, equivalently, 

equity earnings yields remain low).  As earnings struggled for a few years until late 2016, the main justification 

advanced for equity revaluation was the fall in bond yields.  Almost none of that has unwound as 10-year US 

Treasury bond yields have risen from 1.5% p.a. in mid-2016 to almost 2.5% p.a. now. 

The unappealing combination of high valuations and extended profits appears most notable in the US.  Europe 

and emerging markets seem to offer the best combination of relatively attractive valuations and scope for cyclical 

earnings growth. 

We note that implied volatility in equity markets remains at very low levels.  This extends the opportunity to 

implement protection strategies relatively cheaply for those who wish to retain some exposure to potential short-

term upside in equities. 

Property 

On the evidence available so far, the post-referendum recovery in commercial property remains in place.  Indeed, 

growth in capital values has been evident throughout 2017.  Rents are still rising modestly, although it is more 

difficult to detect any acceleration here.  A relatively upbeat aggregate picture is increasingly reliant on the 

industrials sector.  It seems likely that full year returns on the IPD Monthly Index will be above 20% for industrials, 

but below 10% for retail and offices.  

On a more cautionary note, there is anecdotal evidence that leases are taking longer to agree and tenants are 

seeking greater incentives to sign deals.  This is true particularly in office and retail sectors.  

Price

Earnings

75

80

85

90

95

100

105

110

115

120

125

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

MSCI AC World Index (rebased to 31 Dec 2014 = 100)

29



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 010 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

As with equities, the resilience of historically high valuations in a period of potentially rising bond yields limits the 

attractions of property.   

Summary of current outlook 

In the table below we set out our central views of the core capital markets (as at 30 September 2017): 

Growth assets Income focused assets Protection assets 

Equities  

Sterling 

investment 

grade debt 

Sub-investment 

grade debt 
UK property Infrastructure 

Conventional 

gilts 

Index-linked 

gilts 

Neutral to 

Cautious 

 

More neutral 

with protection 

Cautious 

Favour ABS 

over corporate 

bonds 

Cautious for 

public  

Use multi-asset 

mandates 

Favour private 

lending  

Neutral  

More attractive 

for long lease   

Neutral to 

Attractive 

Cautious to 

Negative 

Cautious to 

Negative 

Overall range of ratings: Positive, Attractive, Neutral, Cautious, Negative 

For nearly all assets we see valuations as expensive, but believe that improving global fundamentals plus 

technical support will mean positive, albeit low, returns on most assets. The main risk affecting core equity and 

credit markets is a material policy mistake or a general setback to global growth. 

In this environment, we continue to favour predictable returns from Income biased assets. However, with 

downward pressure on yields, we note that most public credit markets have little upside from here. As a result we 

favour many less illiquid Income assets such as private lending, secure property and infrastructure.  

We also see value in retaining equity allocations (which at least do offer the potential for upside), but using equity 

options to protect against a market correction, thus converting the return profile into a more predictable return 

while retaining the potential for upside.  

  

30



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 011 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

3. Equities 

The Fund’s benchmark equity allocation is largely invested in listed equity markets (44-46%) with a further 4% of 

the Fund invested in private equity. The actual allocation at end October is 52.1%, comprising 48.6% in listed 

equities and 3.5% private equity. The listed equity allocation comprises: 

 a passive regional allocation including the allocation to passively managed Research Affiliates 

Fundamental Indexation  (“RAFI”) in US and Europe; 

 2 active global income managers, KBI and Kempen; 

 an active emerging markets manager, Delaware.  

The passive mandates set defined allocations to regional equity indices.  

Mandate Current benchmark % Percentage of passive  

L&G UK equity (market cap) 3.4  10 

L&G UK equity (capped weights) 4.1 12 

L&G Europe ex UK (market cap) 2.85 8.4 

L&G Europe ex UK RAFI 2.85 8.4 

L&G N America (market cap) 6.6 19.4 

L&G N America RAFI 6.6 19.4 

L&G Asia Pacific (market cap) 2.8 8.25 

L&G Japan (market cap) 2.8 8.25 

L&G Emerging Markets 2.0 5.9 

Total 34 100 

Equity markets have continued to deliver strong returns over 2017, following the positive returns of 2016 and 

more modest returns of 2015.  

 Return (£ based) 

Mandate 
2015 2016 2017  

(to 20 December) 
3 years (p.a.) 

UK FTSE ALL Share 1.0% 16.2% 10.7% 9.1% 

MSCI World 5.5% 29.0% 12.9% 15.4% 

MSCI World £ hedged 2.6% 9.6% 19.2% 10.3% 

RAFI AW 3000 0.3% 35.4% 11.4% 14.8% 

Comparing the MSCI World and MSCI local index (which we have used as a proxy for sterling hedged returns), 

the table highlights that during 2017 sterling recovered some of the currency losses of 2016. UK equities have 

lagged global equities, but excluding the currency effect, the 3 year returns are broadly similar. RAFI has 

delivered similar returns to MSCI World over three years.   

As noted in the previous section the global economy is in the midst of the most synchronized expansion in nearly 

a decade.  This has led to a strong pick up in earnings across most equity markets, which combined with a 

backdrop of low inflation, has provided a supportive backdrop for the asset class with several equity indices 

reaching all-time highs in 2017.   

Of course, the Federal Reserve is conscious of the potential impact of its change in policy direction on risk assets 

and has planned a gradual wind-down. Furthermore, over the next year or so, monetary policy in aggregate 

around the world is likely to remain supportive, in the absence of any spike in inflation expectations.    

31



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 012 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

However, at some point this withdrawal of liquidity may impact on equity sentiment and cause some volatility in 

markets, be it in 2018 or beyond. Hence, having played a part in supporting the equity market rally for much of the 

time since the financial crisis, the unwinding of quantitative easing could now keep a lid on the pace of its further 

upward trajectory, or worse disrupt the run of positive returns.   

Reqional equity allocation  

In our 2015 and 2016 reviews we provided a strategic basis for allocating the regional equity assets, including the 

Delaware Emerging Markets mandate. 

We believe that it is worthwhile reviewing this allocation, recognising that the size and composition of markets and 

relative attraction of markets does not remain constant. With greater divergence in economic outlook and ongoing 

uncertainty around Brexit, we propose the ISC consider evolution of the regional equity allocation during the year.      

Passive index benchmarks  

In October 2012 the Fund made a break from having all of its passive equities managed against a market 

capitalisation weighted benchmark. Within market cap indices, each company weighting is based on the ‘value’ 

the market ascribes to the company (shares in issue multiplied by share price); within a passively managed 

portfolio the amount of capital invested in each company is directly correlated to the market value of the company. 

While using a market cap index is cheap (low fees and low transaction costs), there is a considerable amount of 

academic research that suggests using the size of a company to determine how much capital is invested in it is 

sub-optimal. 

In recent years a number of indices have been launched whereby the weighting of each company within the index 

is based upon a range of other factors and not based on the market value of the company. These indices have a 

plethora of names, with ‘smart beta’ and ‘factor-based investing’ being amongst the most commonly used; 

Leicestershire tends to use the term ‘alternative indexation’. These alternative indices have rules about how the 

weighting of each company within the index is calculated.  

When the Fund moved away from using only market cap indices for its passive equity exposure, there were very 

few alternative indices that were actually ‘investable’. The main range of indices combining academically robust 

construct with sensible implementation rules was the RAFI series. Details of the RAFI methodology are set out in 

the Appendix. 

As with many indices, regional versions of RAFI existed but the lack of investor interest meant that none of the 

passive managers had regional pooled vehicles through which an investment could actually be made. At the time 

RAFI were the index provider with most ‘traction’ and the only series that LGIM could see as being commercially 

viable to them. Leicestershire persuaded LGIM to launch North America and Europe (Ex UK) pooled vehicles 

tracking the RAFI regional indices, but there are now many more alternative indices that are available to invest in. 

Investor interest in alternative indexation is now significant. 

This should not be taken to mean that the Leicestershire Fund was not comfortable with the use of RAFI, nor that 

the RAFI series of indices does not remain an appropriate basis for setting equity benchmarks. However, we 

understand that within LGPS Central there are a number of Funds that are actively considering alternative 

indexation and this would therefore be a sensible opportunity to work with them to research whether utilising other 

indices (either alongside, or in place of, RAFI) is considered optimal for Leicestershire.  

There is no supposition that any change will ultimately be proposed, and any proposal will be based on 

Leicestershire’s wishes rather than those of any other Fund. The choice of the index to be tracked is a strategic 

decision that will be retained by the Fund once investment pooling becomes operational. It is considered sensible 

that the Investment Subcommittee (ISC) be used as a resource to consider this matter more fully during 2018. 

32



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 013 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

Responsible investing – Climate change and fossil fuels 

Institutional investors are facing growing levels of scrutiny with regard to their continued investment in fossil fuel 

companies. Although such scrutiny is not new the underlying issue will persist. Concerns relate to both the long 

term consequences of climate change whereby carbon emissions from the burning of fossil fuels are regarded as 

a key risk factor, coupled with the risk of financial loss that may arise should these investments be retained.  

Carbon risk can be measured by an assessment of the exposure of the portfolio to carbon emissions. In such 

exercises, the energy, materials and utilities sectors are typically shown to have the highest carbon intensity 

although a company is not “bad” simply because it happens to operate within a carbon intensive sector. It is 

important to recognise that some sub-sectors will have very low carbon intensity. For example the utilities sector 

includes both water companies (low carbon intensity) and electricity companies (high carbon intensity). 

Alternative approaches to dealing with carbon risk exposure can be adopted, from use of indices that adopt an 

exclusionary approach to one of engagement. We suggest that as part of the passive benchmark review, more 

detailed research is carried out into the investment risks of fossil fuel companies. Noting that a number of other 

LGPS Central Funds are likely to be considering this issue it would make sense for the Fund to be involved in this 

research and for the ISC to consider the findings. 

Portfolio biases 

As noted in previous years the two income mangers and the Fundamental Index allocation provides a material 

bias to value factors and away from growth factors in the equity portfolio relative to the global market index. This 

is illustrated by the portfolio style analysis illustrated below. Our preference would be for a more balanced 

portfolio, including some exposure to growth factors. During 2018 the Central Pool will launch its Global Equity 

Fund, which it is anticipated will result in a reduced value bias.  

KBI 

 

Kempen 

33



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 014 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

Equity protection strategies 

As noted in our summary of the market outlook in the previous section, we also see value in using equity options 

to protect against a market correction, thus converting the return profile into a more predictable return while 

retaining the potential for some upside. If markets do sell off, then this will also provide a better entry point into 

some of the more liquid credit strategies.  

There is a material cost of implementing outright downside protection; in the table below we illustrate that the cost 

of 1 year protection at 90% of current prices is 2.9% of notional exposure, albeit there are ways of limiting this 

cost such that the net expected return on equities may still look reasonably attractive relative to investing in higher 

yielding bond type assets. For example, only protecting against the price fall between 90% and 70% reduces the 

cost to 2.4%, and giving up price returns above 110% of current market pricing earns a premium of 1.3%, 

reducing the net cost of 1.1%.   

Illustrative pricing for world equity basket (Source R&M, Oct 17) 

1 year 90% price protection 2.9% 

1year 90-70% price protection 2.4% 

2 year 90-70% price protection (annualised) 4.0% (2.0% p.a.) 

1 year premium for selling price above 110% 1.3% 

These structured equity strategies are typically more suited to those looking for specific short-term downside 

protection or to reduce funding volatility. To the extent that investors adopt a long-term investment approach at 

the expense of higher short-term funding volatility, this may be considered of less relevance to the Fund.    

Recommendation 

Given the dependency of equity dividend and earnings growth on positive economic outcomes, coupled with 

comparatively stretched prices, we propose a modest reduction in the target equity range to fund the proposed 

increase in real assets. 

With ongoing lack of clarity around Brexit and associated trade agreements for the foreseeable future, coupled 

with the 5% recovery in sterling over 2017 relative to other currencies (as measured against market cap index), 

we support a proposal to reduce the current currency hedging ratio on overseas assets from the 70% target 

implemented last year back to a weight of 50%.   

The equity portfolio continues to have an inherent value bias resulting from the two income focused managers 

and the passive RAFI holding. During 2018 the Central Pool will launch its Global Equity Fund, which it is 

anticipated will result in a reduced value bias. 

With greater divergence in economic outlook and ongoing uncertainty around Brexit, it is also an appropriate time 

to consider the Fund’s passive regional equity split we believe it would be worthwhile the ISC consider this during 

the year.  For completeness, we confirm that, pending this review, any reduction in equities to fund the proposed 

increase in real assets is funded on a broadly pro-rated basis from the passive LGIM portfolio, not from the active 

equity mandates or private equity allocation. 

Separately, it is relevant to review the benchmark indices used within the passive portfolio, and in particular the 

use of the RAFI indices now that a wider range of indices can be adopted. This will also provide an opportunity to 

review the approach adopted by the Fund with respect to climate change and investment in companies with 

exposure to fossil fuels.    

  

34



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 015 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

4. Real assets 

The Fund currently has a target allocation of 24.5% to assets that are expected to deliver income and returns with 

a degree of inflation linkage; this includes the allocation to index-linked gilts, infrastructure, timberland and 

property.  

During the year the Fund restored the 7.5% target weight allocation to index-linked gilts, removing the 2.5% 

tactical underweight applied during 2016. 

We continue to like assets that provide a strong yield cushion over high quality bonds and have some element of 

long-term sustainable inflation linkage, given the long-term real nature of the Fund’s liabilities. This is particularly 

true in an environment when other assets have been bid up in value and future returns are less predictable.  

However, the demand for many assets in this category remains relatively strong and it is important that the Fund 

only invest in real assets when it can earn sufficient reward for its capital.  

With the exception of index-linked bonds, most real assets are relatively illiquid. This illiquidity provides investors 

an additional premium.  Managing exposure to illiquid assets when they are expressed as a percentage of total 

assets is somewhat imprecise in nature as the allocation cannot be increased or reduced quickly; this is 

particularly so when some investments are made via closed ended funds, where an initial commitment is only 

‘drawn down’ as-and-when underlying opportunities are found by the manager and opportunities to top up 

investments can be lumpy.  

The Fund’s actual allocation is closer to 23%. When commitments made to closed ended funds have been drawn 

the Fund will be closer to the target allocation, although there will still be a shortfall, primarily in respect of the 

property allocation.  

Infrastructure 

The Fund is currently 0.5% underweight its 5% strategic allocation to infrastructure. A further $30-40m will be 

committed to KKR’s new strategy, KKR III, and $15m to JP Morgan’s fund in order to maintain the 5% target.  

We propose allocating a further 1% to the asset class, bringing the strategic target to infrastructure assets up to 

6.0%. Infrastructure assets with contractual, inflation linked income have the ability to provide predictable returns. 

The secure income becomes increasingly attractive as inflation ticks up. Even assets with income correlated to 

GDP can have reasonably predictable cash flows due to the essential nature of services provided.  

Whilst prices across the market are not cheap as operational assets with secure, contractual cash flows are 

highly bid, we believe the Fund’s existing fund managers are well placed to find good value opportunities. They 

source opportunities that can be added as an extension to assets they already own or create them through deals 

with a degree of complexity to implementation. 

We propose the LPC delegate responsibility to the Officers on how to allocate the additional 1% between the 

Fund’s existing infrastructure managers, taking into consideration access to the managers’ fund raising and pace 

of getting the money invested.  

At this point in time there is the opportunity to commit to any of the Fund’s three existing infrastructure managers.  

 Top ups can be made to JP Morgan at any time through the year and expected drawdown is currently 3-6 

months; this would be quickest way of getting money to work in infrastructure.  

 IFM have an annual raise from existing investors in the first quarter of each year to give them better 

insight into how much capital they have available when deal sourcing. In reality, new commitments can 

be made at any time. Capital would typically be drawn 12-18 months after the quarter end of commitment.  

35



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 016 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

 Like other managers of closed-ended strategies, KKR launches new funds every 2-3 years. Therefore to 

maintain or top up exposure, new commitments need to be made during the fund raising windows. KKR 

III is expected to hold a first close in March 2018.  

Fees are changing in Fund III to be based on committed capital rather than NAV. However, there will be a 

fee discount for first close investors in the fund: first close investors will pay 1.25% p.a. rather than 1.5% 

p.a. on committed capital plus a performance fee of 15% subject to an 8% hurdle rather than 20% with a 

hurdle of 8%. Deployment of capital could take up to 6 years although KKR has not taken as long as this 

to deploy capital in Fund I and II.  

Timberland 

The Fund is close to its 2% target allocation to timberland. An additional $30m has been committed to Stafford’s 

next fund, Stafford International Timberland Fund VIII (“SIT VIII”), in order to maintain exposure since capital from 

existing investments will be paid back as the underlying funds mature and assets are sold.  

For similar reasons as our proposal to increase the allocation to infrastructure, we propose increasing the 

strategic allocation to timberland from 2% to 3% of Fund assets; exposure to timberland has historically 

experienced low correlation with other asset classes and reduces the overall risk within the Fund as a result. This 

is no surprise as a large proportion of the return is driven by biological growth and forests are not marked to 

market as frequently as other asset classes.  Overall returns are still connected in some way to wider market 

conditions through changes to timber and land prices.   

We believe now is a good time to increase the allocation. The diagram below shows the imbalances between 

supply and demand across regions, with Asia in particular drawing in timber products from around the world. This, 

combined with the increasing commercial use of timber for energy production, is driving growth in demand at a 

rate of 1.4% per annum.  With supply from areas such as Russia and Indonesia not sustainable from an 

environmental and cost perspective and a lack of new planting over the past 30 years, supply is beginning to 

tighten. When demand increases, prices go up due to inelastic supply.    

Industrial wood production and consumption in 2016 

 

Source: Stafford Capital  

Stafford only launch new funds every 2 to 3 years. Therefore there is a limited window to make allocations to the 

asset class through Stafford funds. Final close is supposed to be 20th January 2018 but Stafford has asked 

existing Limited Partners for approval to extend the fundraising period 3 months to end April 2018.  We propose 

the Fund top up its commitment to SIT VIII to bring the target allocation up to 3% before it has a final close. 

36



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 017 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

Stafford’s ability to enter the market through buying stakes in other funds from investors who want to sell their 

stake after the initial period of capital raising (i.e. buying secondary positions or secondaries) has been lucrative. 

This is an extremely specialist area where Stafford finds there is a lack of competition. Whilst there are many 

buyers of secondaries in Private Equity and a growing number in Infrastructure, there is only one other fund of 

funds manager with relevant expertise in forestry that we are aware of. The team also actively seeks out sellers of 

funds that they like.  

Property 

The Fund has a 10% target allocation to property and current exposure is somewhat below this, at 8.5%.  

We support allocating a further £25m to Kames Active Value II (“KAV II”) to partially bridge the gap. 

KAV II targets net initial yields of at least 7%. Kames has displayed patience in waiting for good quality 

opportunities over the last 12 months, arguably being slow to invest the capital committed in Autumn of 2016.  

Kames are now in the position where they have excess deal flow and a lack of new capital to commit to attractive 

opportunities. They are comfortable that remaining commitments will be drawn in the next month or two and that 

they could deploy at least another £50m before the end of the investment period in July 2018. Hence, an 

additional £25m from the Fund would therefore be welcomed by them.  

With the additional commitment to the Kames strategy, the Fund will continue to run c1% below strategic target in 

property. Whilst there is continued foreign capital attracted to the UK market and yields provide a reasonable 

absolute level of income and a buffer relative to gilts and corporate bonds, yields are low relative to their long 

term average and expectations on rents are mixed. Holding the underweight position will allow the Fund to take 

advantage of any new opportunities that arise in the property market over the next year or so. Hence, we are 

comfortable with maintaining a 10% strategic weighting to property, whilst accepting that it is likely that the Fund 

will remain marginally below this weighting unless Colliers Capital – the Fund’s direct property manager – start to 

see attractive deals coming to market. 

  

37



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 018 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

5. Targeted Return 

The current allocation to targeted return comprises the Ruffer, Aspect and Pictet portfolios. Following the 2017 

strategy review, the benchmark targets for Ruffer and Aspect were reduced by 0.5% each, and the Pictet 

benchmark allocation increased to 1.5%. 

Manager Target pre 2017 Target from 1 January 2017  Actual (end Oct 2017) 

Ruffer 7.0% 6.5% 6.2% 

Aspect 4.0% 3.5% 3.5% 

Pictet 0.5% 1.5% 2.9% 

 11.5% 11.5% 12.6% 

 

It is currently anticipated that the allocation to Pictet be reduced over time to fund investments in the 

Opportunities pool, although cash and the equity allocation provide other sources of assets. 

The approach adopted by the three Targeted Return managers differ, and they provide some complementarity to 

one another. The Ruffer mandate is a long-only multi-asset strategy with a high emphasis on maintaining 

absolute returns, the Aspect portfolio is a quantitative momentum based strategy and the Pictet product is a more 

traditional dynamic asset allocation strategy. 

With the current high valuations of many markets, the Ruffer portfolio has remained relatively defensive, with a 

high allocation to inflation linked bonds. Whilst their approach acts to provide capital preservation within the Ruffer 

portfolio, at an overall Fund level this provides limited downside protection.  

Pictet have informed us that Percival Stanion is stepping back from the day-to-day management of the Dynamic 

Asset Allocation (DAA) Fund due to health issues. Whilst he will remain chair of the fund’s investment process 

and co-chair of Pictet’s strategy unit that formulates the Fund’s asset allocation preferences, he will no longer be 

a named portfolio manager of the strategy. Andrew Cole, who has worked closely with Stanion managing the 

DAA strategy for the last 16 years, will take on lead management of the Fund. Cole will continue to work 

alongside Shaniel Ramjee who is already a co-manager on the strategy.  

Whilst these changes may seem relatively minor, the fact that this has been caused by health issues means that 

there is a risk that Stanion’s involvement will reduce further in the near future. There is also a risk that he may 

choose to retire, which would likely cause a significant shift in our research view as Stanion has been the 

figurehead of the team and the most impressive of the three portfolio managers who came across from Barings to 

Pictet.  We continue to monitor the strategy. However, the Fund is primarily invested in very liquid markets, and 

therefore we see no need for immediate action. 

Reflecting the above comments on Ruffer and Pictet, we propose a modest continuation towards a broader 

strategic balance between the three strategies, as set out below.  

 Manager Target from 1 January 2017  
Proposed target from 1 

January 2018  
Actual (end Oct 2017) 

Ruffer 6.5% 6.0% 6.2% 

Aspect 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 

Pictet 1.5% 2.0% 2.9% 

 11.5% 11.5% 12.6% 

We do not propose incurring cost by switching assets between the three managers. Instead we propose the LPC 

delegate responsibility to the Fund Officers for deciding how any future disinvestment of assets from the Targeted 

Return allocation to fund Opportunities pool investments is made between Ruffer and Pictet.  

38



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 019 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

6. Opportunities Pool 

Having made allocations to M&G’s DOF IV, Infracapital and Standard Life Capital’s private equity secondaries 

fund III, the Fund has made allocations currently equivalent to 5.75% of total assets.  

Manager Target  Actual (October 2017) 

M&G DOF series 2.5% 2.1% 

Markham Rae 0.75% - 

CRC 1% Fully drawn in December 

Infracapital 0.75% - 

SLC secondaries 0.75% - 

Total 5.0% excl Markham Rae 3.1% inc CRC 

Strategic target 4.0% - 6.0%  

 

Markham Rae have not managed to complete any deals, and have not drawn any commitments.  They have until 

22nd March 2018 to make any drawdown or the fund will wind down. They now anticipate completing a deal with 

ING, requiring a modest capital draw of £40m (out of total fund size of £487m) and a further £50m before the end 

of March. If this is only the transaction, then we anticipate investors will be asked if they want to participate in 

future deals. For this reason we have excluded Markham Rae from the target allocation. 

Assuming that we can identify more opportunities for the Fund during the next year, then this could lead to 

commitments that would be in excess of the current upper limit of the strategic allocation. Therefore we propose 

the LPC increases the upper limit of 6.0% to 8.0%.  

If new opportunities are identified and additional funding is required, the natural default would continue to be 

equities (still by far the largest single asset exposure) and Targeted Return (currently overweight relative to 

benchmark), although we would also expect to take into account the relative attraction of other assets, and 

reduce exposure to markets considered especially expensive.  

Looking ahead, the LPC will need to understand, and potentially influence, the Central Pool intentions with 

regards to the management of Opportunities Pool type assets.   If Central Pool is looking to offer a separate 

strategic opportunity portfolio (or portfolios) to all Funds within the Pool, what the structure and objectives of this 

will look like, and how the Fund will be expected to maintain its exposure, should be considered. 

  

39



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 020 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

7. Summary of recommendations 

The table below sets out our higher level strategic recommendations. The changes are highlighted in red.   

 
Current 

Benchmark 
weight (%) 

Proposed 
Benchmark 
Weight (%) 

Long-term Real 
Return  
(% p.a.) 

Contribution to 
Strategic Return (% 

p.a.) 
Equities (44.0 – 48.0%, proposed) 

Listed equity 44-46 40 – 44 4.1 1.75 

Private equity 4 4 6.1 0.25 

Real (26.5%, proposed) 

Inflation linked bonds  7.5 7.5 -0.7 -0.05 

Infrastructure 5 6 3.6 0.2 

Timber 2 3 3.6 0.1 

Property 10 10 2.4 0.25 

Alternatives/Diversifiers (25.5 - 29.5%, proposed) 

Targeted return 11.5 9.5 - 11.5 3.4 0.4 

EMD 2.5 2.5 3.0 0.1 

Global Credit 7.5 7.5 4.0 0.3 

Opportunity Pool 4-6 4 - 8 4.1 0.2 

Currency overlay (Notional 
weight) 

(c.10) (c.10) 1.0 0.1 

TOTAL 100 100  3.6 

 

The main strategic change we propose is to allocate an additional 1.0% of assets to each of Infrastructure and 

Timberland. This has no material impact on the long-term expected return, but reflects our current preference for 

the more predictable and sustainable returns these asset offer relative to potential current equity markets.  

We also recommend a further allocation of c0.5% to Kames’ KAVPUT property strategy, to actively increase the 

property allocation up to 9.0%. 

Although each individual allocation may be small, we continue to see attraction in the type of investments that are 

suitable for the Opportunities Pool. We propose increasing the upper range from 6% to 8% to allow further 

investments to be made by the Investment Sub Committee if suitable opportunities can be identified.      

We also support the proposal to reduce the Fund’s hedging of overseas assets from 70% back to a weight of 

50%.    

 
 
 
 
 

Risk warning 

Please note the value of investments, and income from them, may fall as well as rise. This includes equities, 

government or corporate bonds, and property, whether held directly or in a pooled or collective investment 

vehicle. Further, investments in developing or emerging markets may be more volatile and less marketable than 

in mature markets. Exchange rates may also affect the value of an investment. As a result, an investor may not 

get back the amount originally invested.  Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance. 

 

 

 

40



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 021 

HYMANS ROBERTSON LLP 

 

 

  

Appendix 

RAFI composition methodology 

The starting universe for the FTSE RAFI indices is all listed stocks.  This universe is then ranked or reconfigured 

such that, rather than a stock’s weighting in the index being determined by its scale and pricing (i.e. issued share 

capital x share price = market capitalisation), the weighting of each company is determined by a fundamental 

measure or combination of measures. 

The RAFI indices use a liquidity screened universe of listed stocks and weight each constituent according to a 

combination of its share of the aggregate of the universe based on certain fundamental metrics (e.g. its sales as a 

proportion of total sales for the universe + its cash flow as a proportion of total cash flow for the universe etc).  

RAFI uses the following accounting metrics:  

 Sales: total company sales averaged over the preceding 5 years 

 Cash flow: total company cash flow averaged over the prior 5 years 

 Book value: total company book value at the review date 

 Dividend: total dividend distributions, averaged over the last 5 years 

In a market cap index a change in a constituent’s share price will automatically be reflected in a change in its 

index weight; rebalancing is automatic and does not require transactions other than associated with reinvestment 

of dividends or due to corporate activity.   

In a fundamental index, a change in a constituent’s share price will lead its actual index weight to diverge from its 

fundamental weight; therefore the constituents will have to be rebalanced back to their fundamental weights.  For 

the RAFI series, fundamental weights are calculated annually with the rebalancing implementation spread over 4 

quarters. 

41



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Note: Reviewing the neutral currency hedge ratio 

This note is addressed to the Local Pension Committee of the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (the 

‘Fund’) as part of the general review of the Fund’s investment strategy. The note focuses on the neutral hedge 

ratio provided to the manager of the existing currency hedging programme. 

Background 

The Fund maintains a significant weighting to non-UK financial markets; this generates foreign currency 

exposures that are often secondary to the main investment rationale. To manage these associated risks, the 

Fund retains Kames Capital (the ‘Manager’) to operate a foreign currency hedging programme. Within the 

programme the Manager has full discretion to hedge all or none of the exposure generated by the Fund’s 

overseas equity benchmark weighting based on their prevailing currency views and considering the risk impact 

on the Fund. Until January 2017 the Fund advised the Manager that they should adopt a neutral (or 

benchmark) hedge ratio of 50%.  

The rationale for a neutral half-hedge ratio is illustrated 

in chart opposite (which applies to a simpler asset 

structure than that of the Fund). In short, maintaining 

some degree of currency exposure is appropriate 

though, from a risk perspective, precision is spurious 

(note the narrowness of scale risk scale). The principle 

factor against fully hedging all exposure is that, in ‘risk 

events’ (i.e. sharply falling markets), defensive 

currencies (often those with substantial current 

account surpluses) rise in value against £ (which is 

burdened by a substantial current account deficit). 

The 50% hedge ratio is widely used within currency 

hedging programmes for the reason discussed above. 

In addition, and put simply, 50:50 (or half-right, half-

wrong) summarises most investors view on the 

likelihood of success from trying to manage currency 

risk (although the Fund’s currency hedging programme 

has been a success). After the sharp decline in the 

broad, trade-weighted value of £ (shown opposite) that 

followed the EU Referendum, the ‘odds’ based on 

experience looked to be skewed to the upside.  

It was in this context that, in the annual strategy review in 2017, the Fund agreed to increase the default hedge 

ratio to 70%, higher than ‘theory’ would suggest. The remainder of this note reviews this decision and 

proposes a fresh adjustment reflecting developments in the interim. 

Discussion 

The decision to increase the neutral hedge ratio was implemented on 1st February, 2017. Since then, the £ 

trade-weighted index – the market’s usual proxy for £ as a whole – is unchanged. The currency mix generated 

by the Fund’s overseas exposures that fall under the hedge programme is quite different from that in the TWI1. 

The movements (and weights) of the most significant currencies since Feb 1st (to Dec 23rd) are shown below. 

Based on these weights, the value of £ has risen 4.3% vindicating the increase in the hedge ratio. 

 

                                                           
1 E.g. 47% of the Fund’s equity mix is denominated in US$ while the US$ weight in the £ TWI is 19.4%. 

US EZ Japan China Taiwan Australia Canada India S Korea S Africa Swtiz HK

% weight 47.4 11.9 8.6 4.9 3.4 2.5 2.3 2 1.9 1.4 3 1.4

movement -6.9% 3.7% -6.5% -2.0% -1.0% -3.5% -1.9% -0.8% 1.2% 0.9% -5.3% -7.6%

43

mhand_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix B



 

2 
 

Kames Capital manages the actual hedge programme on a day-to-day basis. The Manager strikes a balance 

between hedging costs and market conditions (opportunities and threats) to deliver a currency hedging 

programme that reduces overall Scheme risk for minimum cost (or even a profit!) In pursuit of this target the 

Manager will, in practice, apply a hedge ratio on each currency different from the neutral or benchmark 

setting when they judge it appropriate to do so. If they have no view then they will apply the neutral ratio 

(currently 70%). 

In setting any programme’s benchmark position, valuation should be the principle consideration (beyond the 

broader assessment of risk contribution). Valuation in currencies, as in all asset classes, is a notoriously 

problematic (and subjective) concept and valuation mis-alignments can persist for long periods which often 

stretch to years. The chart below summarises the latest valuation measurement of a wide range of foreign 

currencies (relative to £). The calculations have been based on purchasing power parity (PPP) and attempt to 

capture the interplay between currency movements and evolving inflation differentials. The inference from 

the chart is echoed across a range of other valuation approaches is clear: against almost all other currencies 

and despite the gains achieved in 2017, £ remains cheap. It was on this basis that the neutral hedge ratio was 

moved higher (from 50% to 70%) in the 2017 Strategy Review; the balance of risk and reward favoured £ 

moving higher. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Although £ rose over 2017, the nature of the risks changed. While 2017 has seen economic growth improve 

strongly in all regions, the UK economy has been a notable laggard as Brexit concerns are compounding 

slowing consumer activity driven by negative real wage growth and high debt burdens. A significant feature of 

the world economy in the past year has been the still low level of inflation; once again, the UK stands out as 

the only major economy to have an inflation problem. That £ hasn’t fallen against this backdrop is testament 

to its cheapness; the economic merits behind other currencies however have improved relative to £. 

The biggest change in 2017 arguably involves the political outlook. The outcome of the surprise General 

Election last June has weakened the Government’s ability to govern (at a time of great upheaval) and has also, 

in the judgment of the investors, enfeebled Theresa May and created conditions capable of leading to a Labour 

Government. Regardless of the reader’s political persuasion, there can be little doubt that, should the next 

Administration be led by Jeremy Corbyn on the current policy platform, then the impact on £ could be 

substantial and negative; Labour leaders have openly discussed the possibility of there being a sharp fall in 

Sterling2 as global investors act in anticipation of much higher public spending and inflation. Further, the 

relationship between a Corbyn-led Labour Government and ‘the City’ is likely to be turbulent; the ‘battle-field’ 

for this tussle will be the foreign exchanges.   

The currency hedging programme acts to maintain strong domestic exposures within the assets. The Scheme’s 

greatest protection against disadvantageous developments in the UK is nonetheless the international reach of 

its investments. At times of heightened domestic uncertainty, it is appropriate to avoid being overly exposed 

                                                           
2 E.g. http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-41393021 

44



 

3 
 

to Sterling. A move in the hedge ratio back to 50% would restore the theoretical neutral position and lock-in 

the gains of the action taken last year (before they might evaporate). 

Summary 

Overall, the Fund’s action to raise the neutral hedge ratio early in 2017 was timely, exploiting conditions which 

favoured £, and of benefit to the Scheme. When the change was made it was not anticipated that, just a year 

later, thought would be given to lowering it once again. Much has changed and while £ still appears 

undervalued, the balance of risk and reward is no longer skewed in favour of Sterling; the Pound should 

continue to appreciate slowly, as the valuation mis-alignment corrects itself, but could fall a lot. A move back 

to a 50% hedge ratio is considered appropriate. If implemented the Scheme will still retain substantial UK 

currency exposure. 

As mentioned in this short note, Kames Capital will adroitly adjust the actual hedge ratio on each currency, 

above or below the neutral level, consistent with their views. The Appendix to this note has been provided by 

Kames Capital and relates to the outlook for £.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

45



 

4 
 

Appendix – Currency Outlook (by Kames Capital) 

This note is addressed to the Members and Officers of the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (LCCPF) 

and relates to the currency hedging programme operated by Kames Capital. Below we discuss the strategic 

outlook for sterling in 2018 against US dollar, euro, yen and emerging markets. 

Detail 

Before looking forward to 2018, it is worth spending a moment reviewing 2017. At first glance 2017 looks to 

have been uneventful despite the drama of an unexpected UK election and, more recently, the late night 

negotiations with the EU. Looking at sterling on a trade weighted basis the currency ends the year very close to 

the levels it started the year. There was more volatility against the major cross rates with sterling 

strengthening along with many other currencies against the US dollar but weakening against a resurgent euro.      

The positives and negatives for sterling throughout the period were finely balanced. Valuation was a key 

support, for example sterling has fallen in recent years where many models, including the Purchasing Power 

Parity record the currency as cheap. The exchange rate is weaker than one would expect given the past 

performance of the economic variables such as growth and inflation. However, the outlook materially changed 

with the vote to leave the European Union, which is why a ‘cheap’ valuation can be justified. In 2017 the 

economy performed much better than many had predicted thus preventing much further weakness. A rise in 

interest rates in the autumn also helped. What prevented sterling from performing better was the continued 

uncertain outlook and lack of clarity around the UK‘s departure from the EU, something that we don’t expect 

to become clear anytime soon. 

Looking into 2018, we start the year in a similar vein, UK economic growth is likely to underperform other 

developed economies. Inflation is expected to be relatively higher and key interest rates are expected to rise 

again in 2018. The Bank of England has signalled only gradual increases and by the end of 2018 the European 

Central Bank (ECB) may also be not too far from doing the same. The key source of volatility in 2018 is again 

likely to be focused on the terms of the UK’s departure from the EU and the UK’s political landscape.  Until that 

is clear we would expect the UK economy to continue to underperform internationally and the political climate 

to deteriorate. A change of government, although not our central case, remains a possibility. Sterling could 

weaken again as the uncertainty increases and as the implications of a Corbyn Labour government are 

assessed.  

Conversely, Brexit negotiations may reveal that the attitudes towards the EU and trading arrangements have 

softened sufficiently in the government to anticipate that the UK’s exit is not going to be quite as ‘hard’ as 

expected. The single market and customs union, for example, might be replaced by something that looks very 

similar to the current set-up, except in name. We would expect a development such as this to boost the value 

of sterling significantly as confidence returns.  

As 2018 progresses, the results of the political negotiations will become evident but, for the moment, the 

fundamental picture remains negative. Valuation is still supportive, as are interest rate differentials. Market 

positioning is still cautious but much less extreme compared to the start of 2017.  

With this backdrop sterling should make some progress in 2018 if the political minefields are avoided.  

 

Below we provide a short summary on sterling verses US dollar, Euro, Japanese Yen and Emerging Markets 

(the major exposures within the LCCPF currency hedging programme). 

US Dollar 

We expect the US dollar to continue its downward trend over 2018. The currency remains overvalued 

compared to its long-term average (as measured by the real effective exchange rate (REER)). As global growth 

increases, the drivers which undermined the US dollar in 2017 will continue to contain the currency further in 

2018: for example, there will be a continued shift to slightly less accommodative policy elsewhere in the world. 

We think these trends will extend into 2018 and expect a gradual, rather than sharp, decline in the currency in 

the next 12 months. 

46



 

5 
 

However, there is the potential for the US dollar to have some near-term upside. First on tax reforms; the 

anticipated tax reductions for business and higher income households, successfully implemented, will add 

further stimulus to the US economy, potentially boosting the dollar. Second, a more hawkish Fed: the market 

continues to price in fewer hikes than the Fed dots, although given the amount of change in the Fed 

membership in the coming months the current dot plots are perhaps not as relevant. For example, Jerome 

Powell will replace Janet Yellen as the new Chairman of the US Federal Reserve.  There will also be four 

additional appointees to the board of the central bank in the coming months, and in addition a vacancy at the 

New York Fed, after Bill Dudley’s recently announced retirement. A more hawkish rhetoric from this 

committee may bolster the dollar in the short term. 

The current programme has a 50% US dollar hedge, over 2018 we will continue to monitor this closely. 

Euro 

The euro has performed well re-rating post the French elections but has been contained by dovish ECB 

guidance. We expect the euro to strengthen in 2018. Firstly, on valuation, whilst EUR undervaluation has 

declined since the start of 2017 it is still not stretched. Secondly, data in Europe remains robust, economic 

growth is now being forecast to outpace the US in 2018 and in addition recent PMI’s have been strong, 

accelerating faster than in the US. Furthermore, the current account surplus remains strong and core inflation 

is grinding higher. With supportive data continuing, this calls into question the extent to which the ECB retains 

its very accommodative monetary stance. Thirdly, it is unlikely that politics will stand in the way of a euro 

appreciation. The breakdown and restarting of coalition talks in Germany is proving smoother than expected, 

and tail risks associated with the Italian election in early 2018 appear to be lower.   

Whilst the programme currently has a neutral EUR hedge we will continue to monitor the developments of the 

eurozone and adjust the mandate accordingly.  

Yen 

We are positive on the Japanese yen in 2018 for two main reasons. First, on valuation, the real-trade exchange 

rate highlights that the yen remains undervalued and remains below its long-term average; within the G10 it 

remains below its long-term average. Second, Japanese economic data is showing signs of structural strength. 

If growth continues and inflation rises to levels closer to target, the Bank of Japan (BoJ) may begin to reduce its 

aggressive easing policy; this is not discounted by investors. With positioning of the yen (against the US dollar) 

at extreme short levels, any unwind in these positions could be a further catalyst to strengthen the currency 

further. We believe it is an attractive trade in the current ‘risk on’ environment. In the event of any risk-off 

event, it still remains the most likely of the major currencies to outperform. 

We are positive on the Japanese yen in 2018 and expect to move the programme from neutral (70%) to 

unhedged (0%) if this improvement in the Japanese economy continues. 

Emerging markets 

Emerging markets have generally outperformed the US dollar in 2017 with the strongest performing region 

being Central and Eastern Europe. In general, strong global growth and a weaker US dollar have supported 

emerging market currencies. However, the tightening of monetary policy by the US Federal Reserve and 

political uncertainty in some countries (for example, Turkey) has weighed on the sentiment towards some 

emerging market currencies.  

In 2018, we expect emerging market growth to continue and along with commodity price momentum we 

continue to favour many emerging market currencies. In addition, valuations are close to neutral, in aggregate, 

emerging market REER are just slightly below their long-term average. There remains value in some LATAM 

and EMEA, while Asia remains the most expensive. Finally, emerging market external positions are improving, 

for example many of these countries’ current accounts have continued to improve since the 2013 taper 

tantrum, with the exception of Turkey and South Africa.  

47



 

6 
 

Over the medium term we expect sterling to underperform emerging markets. We would favour those 

currencies that are embarking on a path to normalisation, continued strong growth and high yielders, and 

would avoid those currencies that have increased political instability. 

 

 

 

 

Gareth Gettinby    Sandra Holdsworth 
Investment Manager    Investment Manager 

 

48



 

  

Note: Searching for mitigants  

Summary 

All risk (growth) investments inevitably enter periods when their prices fall. This can be due to idiosyncratic 

factors or when the market goes ‘ex growth’; we concern ourselves here primarily with the latter. At such 

times, investors typically have three options: ‘switch off’ (and find distraction elsewhere), sell (waiting 

hopefully for lower prices to re-enter ‘risk’) or judge that trades, previously installed into their portfolio, can 

generate profits that will cushion (or mitigate) the marked-to-market losses incurred (on the growth 

investments). On the argument that taking the long view, ignoring the ebb and flow of market pricing, has 

merit, there is no good reason for long term investors to temporarily trade out of investments expected to 

deliver the required trend rate of return over time. That said, there can merit in considering the third option 

above - the pursuit of mitigants – if they are appropriately priced. This note examines this approach. 

Background 

Equity (‘risk’) markets performed very well in 2017 and much better than people expected one year ago; in 

many cases, indices attained all-time highs repeatedly throughout the year. The platform for these gains was 

formed, across the globe, by stronger and much more synchronised economic growth than expected, a 

related strong improvement in corporate earnings and a benign monetary policy response from Central 

Banks (shaped by still low inflation and evidenced by the slide in the US projected equilibrium policy rate to 

just 2.8%). A fourth, important factor was the failure of politics, in Europe most notably, to generate a 

sustained de-stabilisation; despite unexpected developments in Spain, Austria and the UK, Macron’s victory 

in France proved that stable politics at the core of Europe is all that matters. Investors were also reassured 

by Trump’s repeated failure to turn bluster into policy. 

One consequence of this almost perfect platform for risk-taking has been that equity markets have proved 

very stable e.g. the US equity market never fell in any calendar month in 2017. This low level of volatility has 

fed through into derivative markets to lower option costs to levels rarely seen before; if markets are 

becalmed then the need for (cost of) ‘insurance’ plummets. This has encouraged a growing number of 

institutional funds to enter into derivative trading strategies which will pay-off should equity markets fall 

sharply. With equity markets around all-time highs it is easy to believe that the only way is down. While it 

could be argued that things can only get worse, it is likely that the funds transacting these strategies are 

motivated by availability of cheap insurance rather than a strong sense of foreboding.  

It is (always) possible to shape a bearish outlook; the following are some of the current possible ‘banana 

skins’. 

a) The inability of inflation to emerge in response to strong economic growth given the sharp gains in 
employment seen in some major economies, invites the conclusion that the world remains firmly in the 
grip of strong deflationary forces that will surge to the fore as soon as economic activity slows; this 
would prove to be a very poor platform for corporate profitability. 

b) Energy prices have risen despite high inventory levels and the rise in shale output in the US. If sustained, 
this could force central banks to abandon their ‘softly, softly’ approach and tighten monetary conditions 
faster than is currently discounted (this would begin to restore cash as a viable investment and could 
catalyse a sharp and destabilising sell-off in bond markets). 

c) Retail activity in tech and emerging markets has shown signs of crowded, herd-like behaviour (the action 
in cryptocurrencies being an extreme illustration); such phases never end well. 

49

mhand_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix C



 

 

page 2 

d) The world economy simply self-exhausts as consumers, still experiencing poor (or negative) real wage 
growth stop buying while the corporate sector fails to lift its capital spending after many years of sub-par 
investment. 

e) China’s finds itself incapable of sustaining the controlled deflation of its enormous credit bubble. 

f) Brexit goes badly for both the UK and Europe. 

g) Trump/ Russia/ North Korea etc manage to generate an exogeneous shock. 

In previous market cycles, surging equity prices would, led by higher policy rates and the flow of bond capital 

into equities, have eventually pushed bond yields higher and eventually to levels that present a viable, 

competitive alternative to stock-markets. The failure of bond yields to move away from the recent historic 

lows is what sets this market cycle apart from those which have gone before; the price of traditional 

defensive assets is generally considered by many to be too high to be attractive.  

 

Concerned investors can consider some or all of the following actions: 

a) selling equities for cash at least down to a neutral weight accepting that cash yields almost nothing; 

b) buying bonds, funded by reducing equities, regardless of how expensive bonds seem recognising that 
should equities fall then the price of bonds will rise and accepting that, until risk assets fall, the yield 
accrued on the bonds will make no meaningful contribution to the Fund’s overall required return; 

c) ensuring that their risk assets have a defensive tilt e.g. robust-yield themed equities typically outperform 
strongly when indices slump; 

d) (as a £-based investor) maximise the non-£ exposure in the Fund recognising that in the past when 
equities have slumped by more than 20% in a quarter, £ has seen an average fall of almost 7%; 

e) strengthen exposure to assets expected to prove uncorrelated with equity markets e.g. infrastructure 
and 

f) engage, tactically, in buying derivative-based protection strategies. 

Activity in recent years within the Fund has seen diversification increase and the asset mix already contains 

defensive equity strategies (in KBI and, to a lesser extent, Kempen); this could be increased. The Fund has 

shown itself capable of usefully adjusting its currency hedging strategy and has the powers to reduce its 

equity weighting – to cash or bonds. The remainder of this note will examine option-based protection 

strategies akin to those that some LGPS funds have implemented. 

 

Equity options entitle, but do not compel, the owner to transact in an equity (or an equity index) at a pre-

determined (‘strike’) price before or on a pre-determined (‘exercise’) date; the option owner will pay a price 

(‘premium’) for the conditional structure of the contract. Options which allow the owner to buy are called 

call options, those which allow the owner to sell are referred to as put options. The owner of calls wants the 

market to rise above the strike price while the owner of puts wants the market to fall below the strike price; 

crucially, these movements must occur before the exercise date if the option is not to expire worthless. 

The price of options – calls or puts – varies continuously with the market’s evolving perception of the 

likelihood that the option owner will have the opportunity to exercise the option at a profit. The more 

volatile the equity or market, the more likely it will be that the equity or market will move to levels that are 

attractive to the option owner and hence the more expensive will be the option. The earlier discussion 

highlights that markets have, in recent quarters, been unprecedentedly well-behaved; the corollary of this 

being that option prices have fallen to extremely low levels where some investors have concluded that the 

downside protection (‘insurance’) from owning some puts is too cheap not to own. 

50



 

 

page 3 

The simplest way of constructing option-based protection would be to buy a put option with the strike price 

set at the current market level; the owner is then protected from any fall in the market. Using the current 

market level1 as an example, the premium (cost) for an option expiring this time next year is 5.5% (two years 

ago, the cost would have been nearly 8%). This is still quite a lot in, what is still generally perceived to be, a 

low-return world. 

Common ways of lowering the cost are  

i. to set the strike price below the current market price such that protection only starts after, and from, an 
initial fall (10% below the current level is commonly set as the point where the ‘insurance’ starts to pay 
off) and 

ii. place a cap on the level of insurance by setting a level where the option ceases to pay-out (30% below 
the current level is common). 

Compared to the current ‘at the money’ cost of 5.5%, the premium for ‘out of the money’ protection, that 

starts after a 10% fall and tops out after the market has fallen by 30%, is 2% (roughly the dividend yield on 

the US market). For clarity, the owner of such a pair of options receives nothing if the market falls 5%, is paid 

back 5% should the market fall 15% and is limited to a 20% pay-out if the market falls 30% or more. 

A further way of lowering the cost is by receiving a premium or payment from  

iii. committing to selling equities at a higher level by selling call options. 

This has some logic as the investor is already concerned about the level of markets and the idea of being 

paid to sell at higher levels can be attractive. Investors typically set the higher strike price (from which they 

lose ownership of their equity exposure) at the level needed to raise the capital needed to pay from the 

downside protection. In the example above, the (10%, 30%) downside protection for one-year would be 

funded by selling a one-year call option struck 6.4% above the current market level. Some investors see this 

as ‘free insurance’.  

A common way of illustrating the impact of such a ‘zero 

cost’ insurance structure is the pay-off diagram shown 

opposite.  

 

 

 

The diagram hopefully highlights some of the issues associated protection structures. These include: 

1. the Fund is only protected up to the expiry date - your car insurance is no use if you crash after your 
policy has expired; 

2. protection only starts after a 10% fall – akin to having a 10% ‘excess’; 

3. the ‘cover’ ceases after 30% - if the market falls 50% the payback is only 20%; 

4. if the equity market keeps on rising, the Fund becomes a forced seller after a 6.4% gain – last year US 
equities rose approximately 20% and, if repeated, the cost of the ‘free’ insurance would be nearly 14%; 

5. to get full value of the protection, i.e. 20%, the fall of 30% must happen close to expiry i.e. in one year’s 
time. 

Clear from these comments is the importance of timing both in terms of installing the protection structure 

and in ‘knowing’ when the market might slump. 

                                                           
1 All prices etc used in the illustrations are based on the US equity market 

51



 

 

page 4 

Summary 

Markets have fallen heavily in the past, they will do so again in the future; the trick is knowing when! Beyond 

the natural defence of diversification – across asset classes and currencies – the concept of portfolio 

insurance has merit when there is some visibility as to the rough timing of any fall, even if the apparent costs 

are very low. Otherwise, as with all insurance, the protection writer generally wins (that’s how insurance 

companies make their money). [It is worth noting that some of the asset structures into which the Fund 

invests rely on profiting from selling insurance.] 

There are always some that ‘get lucky’. If the market falls soon then those Funds that currently own option 

protection will garner much publicity for their astute actions. If the next market slump occurs after their 

‘cover’ expires, then it is unlikely that this will be given any prominence. Few expected equities to perform 

well in 2017; they did and that could happen again – especially if the global economy continues to grow at 

the current healthy levels. 

The Fund entered into tactical protection around the UK Referendum when the market was judged to be 

mis-pricing the risks; that this proved advantageous was in no small part because we knew the date of the 

event risk. It is very hard currently to anticipate when equity markets might fall and, importantly, for what 

reason. Such clarity might emerge and the ISC exists to consider such issues (analogous to the activity 

around the currency hedge in 2016). The objective of this note is to highlight the wisdom in continuing to 

pursue diversified attractive risk-adjusted returns and to encourage the ISC to assess all opportunities to 

improve the robustness of the asset base where the risk/reward balance is clearly tilted in the Fund’s favour. 

Beyond this, the best way in which a truly long-term investor like the LCCPF can gain from market 

dislocations is to retain the composure, while others are panicking, needed to buy attractive growth assets 

at knockdown prices.  

52



 

  

Note: on adjusting the regional equity mix  

Summary 

The Fund maintains significant exposure to non-UK equity markets as part of its diversified asset strategy. It 

is important to review the way these international assets are shaped (and how that shaping evolves).  

The LPC reviewed the mix of overseas equities in 2015 and then updated that work in 2016. This process led 

initially to the re-introduction of Japan and, subsequently, to an increased allocation to that market. This 

note revisits the topic and proposes modest adjustments. 

Background 

There are at least five ways to set the neutral split of overseas equities: 

1. Peer group average 

Setting the neutral allocation equal to the peer group average is to follow the actions of comparable funds; 

the approach naturally lags rather than leads. It invites herd (lemming)-like behaviour based on data that, 

when released, could be considerably out of date. This can also lead to allocations that are wildly different 

from any recognised (or rational) norm.  

2. Market capitalisation 

This approach is the most common and biases the asset allocation to the largest equity markets and to 

momentum (the best performing markets attract greater proportions of capital) regardless of their valuation 

and outlook. As with the peer group average, this is an approach that lags rather than leads. This is the 

easiest benchmark to calculate and is based on live data. Currently, this approach produces a very 

concentrated benchmark weighted very heavily in favour of the US (see data on page 3). 

3. GDP weights 

Investment allocations are related to the size of each country’s economy which, in comparison to the 

gyrations of equity markets, is relatively stable (which is fortunate given the lags by which GDP data is 

released and that the data is subject to revision). Issues with this approach include a) that large economies 

can have small stock markets e.g. China, b) that some markets are much more international than others e.g. 

the UK and c) some companies choose their country of listing for their best advantage1. 

4. Forward GDP weights 

This is an extension of the GDP approach and is based on the latest GDP split and projected growth rates 

across the various economies and so, attractively, adds weight to the faster growing economies. While GDP 

forecasts are, like all forecasts, subject to error, these can be prepared internally and/or drawn from the 

World Bank and the IMF. Unlike any other approach mentioned, forward GDP weights attempts to capture 

future trends (although proponents of market capitalisation might argue that the stock markets that are 

performing best are doing so based on the relative strength in the corporate earnings outlook). The GDP 

approach, whether current or projected) produces a well-diversified benchmark. 

5. Set fractions 

Depending on how emerging markets are treated, international markets can be split into three or four 

blocks. If three, they are North America, Europe (excluding the UK) and Asia; Asia is usually tilted in favour of 

Japan. Country weights within each block are usually based on market capitalisation. A common benchmark 

would assign one third to each block. Advantages seen in this approach include that it is simple, forces 

                                                           
1 The bidding war surrounding the upcoming Aramco listing illustrates the distortions possible 

53

mhand_3
Typewritten Text
Appendix D



 

 

page 2 

diversification if the fractions are broadly equal and, perhaps most significantly, is distinct from the first four 

approaches mentioned. The principle disadvantage is that it lacks any financial or economic support. 

Selected charts: 

The chart opposite compares the compound achievement of the main market-capitalization weighted all 

world index as compiled by MSCI against the GDP weighted alternative. From the end of 1999, the GDP 

weighted version has outperformed the 

mainstream market-cap index by 0.87% per 

annum albeit with an inevitably higher level 

of volatility (consistent with the less mature 

nature of many of the countries involved). 

The more balanced GDP approach has 

tended to outperform unless growth in the 

world economy is being led by the US when 

its scale benefits the market-cap approach 

most significantly. At such times, the US$ is 

invariably also strong and this compounds 

the concentration. 

 

Below are two charts which compare the relative performance (vs. the market cap weighted world index2) of 

the UK against emerging markets and then of North America against continental Europe. 

The UK equity market has significant exposure to companies that trade globally and which are heavily 

involved in commodities and energy. The first chart highlights that excess return (all data is in local currency) 

from UK equities has tended to occur when EM have outperformed (albeit that the degree of relative 

performance of EM is much greater). This close similarity should be remembered when setting target weights 

for the domestic market and EM. Crudely, three units of UK exposure have tended to generate the same 

excess return as one unit of EM exposure; this out-turn is consistent with the proportion of UK company 

earnings generated in emerging markets as mentioned in Hymans’ 2015 review.  

Since the GFC, the contrast in performance between Europe and US has been stark. This can, in part, be 

explained by several years of sluggish economic performance in Europe and ongoing political/ existential 

crises. It is interesting that despite significant strength in the EZ economies, European equities have failed to 

recover any ground (relative to the US and the World). The inference from this chart is that it is important to 

take the time to think about regional selection. 

                                                           
2 For these charts, the data relates to FTSE indices 

54



 

 

page 3 

Selected data: 

The table immediately below details the country constituents of the MSCI World (developed) and emerging 

market indices. The economies of the countries listed represent 90% of the world economy (GDP, in US$s). 

The current GDP split and that projected by the World Bank in 2022 are shown below along with the current 

weights in the world equity market. For those interested, the split across EM is given in the Appendix. 

MSCI ACWI 

MSCI World MSCI Emerging Markets 

Americas Europe and 
ME 

Pacific Americas Europe, ME & 
Africa 

Asia 

Canada 

US 

Austria 

Belgium 

Finland 

France 

Germany 

Ireland 

Israel 

Italy 

Netherlands 

Norway 

Portugal 

Spain 

Sweden 

Switzerland 

Australia 

Hong Kong 

Japan 

New 
Zealand 

Singapore 

Brazil 

Chile 

Columbia 

Mexico 

Peru 

Czech Rep 

Egypt 

Greece 

Hungary 

Poland 

Qatar 

Russia 

S Africa 

S Arabia 

Turkey 

UAE 

China 

India 

Indonesia 

Korea 

Malaysia 

Pakistan 

Philippines 

Taiwan 

Thailand 

 % GDP of World 

economy x UK (current) 

% GDP of World 

economy x UK (2022) 

% of current Market 

Cap. x UK 

DM 61.2 56.8 87.0 

Americas 30.6 28.6 58.2 

Europe (x UK) 20.2 18.7 15.0 

Pacific 10.5 9.5 13.7 

EM 38.8 43.2 13.0 

Americas 5.4 5.1 1.5 

Europe (x UK) 7.4 7.2 2.2 

Asia 26.5 31.3 9.2 

DM+EM    

Americas 36.0 33.8 59.8 

Europe (x UK) 27.6 25.9 17.2 

Asia Pacific 36.4 40.3 22.8 

55



 

 

page 4 

LCCPF approach 

The Fund adopts a fixed fraction approach, periodically reviewed. The current % weights for the passive non-
UK equity allocation are  

Europe x UK N America Asia x J Japan EM 

5.7 13.2 2.8 2.8 2.0 

Including the dedicated allocation to active EM equities (managed by Delaware) and combining Asia and 
Japan gives the following: 

% Europe x UK N America Asia  EM 

of Fund 5.7 13.2 5.6 6.0 

of regional equities (x UK) 18.7 43.3 18.4 19.7 

 

 

World (x UK) mkt cap 15.0 58.2 13.7 13.0 

World (x UK) current GDP 20.2 30.6 10.5 38.8 

World (x UK) GDP (projected 2022) 18.7 28.6 9.5 43.2 

Comments: 

A. A fixed fraction approach has merit if relative 

performance, across the major regions, is cyclical; if 

this is true then, as the chart (for local currency 

performance) opposite suggests, it is a very long cycle. 

As the world economy evolves then it seems 

reasonable that, structurally, equity markets should 

change in relative scale. The Fund adopts a 

discretionary approach, setting the fractions for the 

year ahead at the annual Strategy Review.  

B. The size of developed economies is projected to fall relative to those in emerging economies and these 

economies are becoming more self-sufficient. While some will argue that this growth can be captured 

through holdings in developed market equities3, it seems reasonable that the neutral regional split should 

respect, by some means, this projection. 

C. The most significant contrast between the 

current Fund weightings and those implied by either a 

GDP approach involves the US and EM. Adopting a 

GDP basis for setting the neutral allocation  implies 

switching some 15% of non-UK equities from North 

America to EM. The chart opposite suggests, based on 

the past decade, that there has never been a better 

time to do this; the terms could improve.  

                                                           
3 Epoch – a global equity manager on the London CIV platform, hold no emerging market equities directly arguing that, 
through the likes of Unilever, Nestle etc, they get ample exposure to emerging economies without being exposed to the 
governance issues of owing EM shares directly. This stance suits the manager – they don’t need to employ EM analysts!  

56



 

 

page 5 

D. Given the dominance of the US equity 

market in world indices it is unsurprising that 

developed markets overall have outperformed 

their emerging counterparts in recent years. This 

can, in part, be explained by the extra-ordinary 

policy conditions across developed markets 

(including ultra-low bond yields/ discount rates). 

Central banks, across developed economies, are 

now beginning to gently reverse out of their crisis 

policy setting. This partially explains some of the 

relative recovery in EM stocks over 2017; gradual 

rate hikes have taken the steam out of the US$. 

 

In thinking about possible changes to the current split for the year ahead, the following higher-level 

observations are relevant. 

1. EM equities have significantly underperformed their developed market peers in recent years with the 

latter boosted by extra-ordinarily accommodative monetary policies; that boost is now slowing down. The 

valuation of EM equities is much less stretched than in the west and EM economies continue to grow in 

global importance. Unless the US$ becomes markedly stronger or, globally, inflation becomes a problem 

(neither is expected), EM assets should continue to re-rate. The case for implementing a structural increase 

now in EM weightings seems clear. Calibration of any adjustment should be done recognising the similarity in 

performance trends with UK equities. 

2. China continues to move towards a domestically driven economy and policymakers there are tightening 

credit to avoid a repeat of the ‘crunch’ seen in the West in 2008/9; this should act as a headwind to non-

China Asian equity markets.  

3. The Japanese economy continues to perform well, the Bank of Japan shows no sign of tightening 

monetary policy and corporate earnings are growing well in Japan. Any reduction in Asia equities should not 

be expressed in the Japanese weighting. Global investors have considerable scope to add to their Japanese 

weighting. 

4. The recovery in the European economy has been marked and this up-cycle should continue especially if, 

as expected, capital investment by European companies increases; a much stronger € would be a concern 

and political developments need to be watched. Valuations are more attractive than in the US. Global 

investors have still not fully rebuilt their weightings in European equities after the crisis-laden, post-GFC 

years. A cyclical lift in the European weighting is appropriate. 

5. North America has been the place to invest for the past ten years. The policy response (to the GFC) was 

swift and powerful as was the corporate sector’s reaction (early, sharp labour shedding which provided the 

platform for a recovery that has been sustained). The latest boost (from tax cuts) is increasingly being 

discounted and with economies elsewhere improving, given lofty valuations on US stocks and the prospect of 

US policy rates increasing further, the North American equity weighting should be reduced to fund increases 

elsewhere. Unlike everywhere else, valuation challenge from bonds is beginning to emerge.  

These arguments lead to the changes enumerated over the page: increase Europe and EM, reduce Asia x 

Japan and more so the US, leave Japan unchanged. These adjustments move the mix in the direction of the 

projected GDP-weighted allocations in both EM (increase) and North America (reduction) and Asia 

(reduction).  

 

57



 

 

page 6 

 

 

 

Summary 

All decisions taking in the Fund should be taken with strategic objectives in mind. Reviewing how the regional 

(non-UK) asset allocation should be shaped, there are several approaches that can be adopted and these 

have been summarised in this note.  

All of the approaches mentioned have their imperfections and selection is largely a matter of personal 

preference. The most common approach in Schemes akin to the LCCPF is the arbitrary fraction approach, 

periodically revised; this approach was adopted in a relatively recent strategy review. The author’s 

preference is to have an approach which has an eye to economic trends; this should become more important 

as emerging economies mature (and are supported internally). The two approaches needn’t conflict and can 

usefully combine with one offering to challenge to the other. 

The Fund’s approach sees weights reviewed once a year, the changes recommended for the year ahead are 

broadly consistent with, but not driven by, a projected GDP approach. The reduction proposed in the North 

American weighting reduces the concentration to this region. 

It is recommended that the precise scale of the adjustments be left to Officers to reflect market conditions. 

Any finessing required could also usefully consider the tendency for UK and EM markets to move together. 

There is scope to extend the detail of this note across the full asset mix of the Fund producing moderate 

adjustments reflecting market conditions etc. This is work that should be tasked to the ISC. 

 

 

 

Scott M Jamieson 

January 2018 

  

% Europe 

x UK 

N America Asia  EM 

Current Fund weight 5.7 13.2 5.6 6 

Current % of non-UK 18.7 43.3 18.4 19.7 

Suggested target % on non-
UK 

23.0 36.1 16.4 24.6 

2022 GDP weights 18.7 28.6 9.5 43.2 

Suggested Fund weight 7.0 11.0 5.0 7.5 

Change +1.3 -2.2 -0.6 +1.5 

58



 

 

page 7 

Appendix 

The table below details the relative size of each emerging market in terms of (US$ based) GDP and 
of the current equity market capitalisation. The emerging markets listed are those defined by MSCI 
and data is taken from the World Bank and FTSE. 

 

 

 

% of World GDP (US$) % of World Equity Market

Brazil 2.6% 0.87%

Chile 0.4% 0.15%

China 16.2% 3.18%

Colombia 0.4% 0.05%

Czech Republic 0.3% 0.02%

Egypt 0.5% 0.02%

Greece 0.3% 0.04%

Hungary 0.2% 0.04%

India 3.3% 1.18%

Indonesia 1.3% 0.24%

Korea 2.0% 1.80%

Malaysia 0.4% 0.32%

Mexico 1.5% 0.37%

Pakistan 0.4% 0.01%

Peru 0.3% 0.04%

Philippines 0.4% 0.16%

Poland 0.7% 0.16%

Qatar 0.2% 0.07%

Russia 1.9% 0.43%

Saudi Arabia 0.9% 0.37%

South Africa 0.4% 0.90%

Taiwan 0.8% 1.33%

Thailand 0.6% 0.37%

Turkey 1.2% 0.13%

United Arab Emirates 0.5% 0.10%

59



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 10 November 2017.
	6 Market Outlook.
	7 Strategic Investment Benchmark and Portfolio Structure of the Fund.
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D




